

VYSOKÉ UČENÍ TECHNICKÉ V BRNĚ

BRNO UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY



FAKULTA ELEKTROTECHNIKY A KOMUNIKAČNÍCH TECHNOLOGIÍ ÚSTAV RADIOELEKTRONIKY

FACULTY OF ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING AND COMMUNICATION DEPARTMENT OF RADIO ELECTRONIC

FINITE ELEMENT TIME DOMAIN AND ITS **APPLICATIONS**

METODA KONEČNÝCH PRVKŮ V ČASOVÉ OBLASTI A JEJÍ APLIKACE

DOKTORSKÁ PRÁCE DOCTORAL THESIS

AUTOR PRÁCE

JAN CIGÁNEK

AUTHOR

SUPERVISORS

VEDOUCÍ PRÁCE Prof. ZBYNĚK RAIDA

BRNO 2014

ABSTRACT

The thesis deals with modeling dispersive media by the finite-element time-domain method. Mathematical model including dispersive models is proposed and finite element approximation of this model is presented. Three of the most commonly used dispersive models are investigated, namely the Debye model, the Lorentz model and the Drude model. The techniques for implementing these dispersive models are described. Presented techniques are incorporated into a finite element method. Finally, a new method based on a digital filtering technique is presented. Various test examples are used to verify all the developed methods. Achieved results are discussed, and possible improvements of methods are suggested.

KEYWORDS

Finite element time domain, mathematical model, dispersive media, Debye model, Lorentz model, Drude model.

ABSTRAKT

Disertační práce se zabývá modelováním dispersních materiálů metodou konečných prvků v časové oblasti. V práci jsem navrhl matematický model zahrnující dispersní modely a aplikoval jsem na něj metodu konečných prvků. Pozornost jsem věnoval třem nejvíce používaným dispersním modelům. Jedná se o Debyeho model, Lorentzův model a Drudův model. Dále jsem se zabýval technikami implementace těchto dispersních modelů. Techniky jsem zabudoval do metody konečných prvků. Navíc jsem vyvinul novou metodu založenou na technice digitální filtrace. Funkčnost vyvinutých metod a technik jsem ověřil na řadě testovacích příkladů. Diskutoval jsem dosažené výsledky a navrhuji jejich možná vylepšení.

KLÍČOVÁ SLOVA

Metoda konečných prvků, matematický model, dispersní prostředí, Debyeho model, Lorentzův model, Drudeho model.

CIGÁNEK, J. *Finite element time domain and its applications*. Doctoral dissertation thesis. Brno: Brno University of Technology, Faculty of Electrical Engineering and Communication, 2014.

DECLARATION

I declare that I have written my doctoral thesis "Finite element time domain and its applications" independently, under the guidance of the doctoral thesis supervisor and using the technical literature and other sources of information which are all quoted in the thesis and detailed in the list of literature at the end of the thesis.

As the author of the doctoral thesis, I furthermore declare that, as regards the creation of this doctoral thesis, I have not infringed any copyright. In particular, I have not unlawfully encroached on anyone's personal and/or ownership rights and I am fully aware of the consequences in the case of breaking Regulation §11 and the following of the Copyright Act No. 121/2000 Coll., and of the rights related to intellectual property right and changes in some Acts (Intellectual Property Act) and formulated in later regulations, inclusive of the possible consequences resulting from the provisions of Criminal Act No. 40/2009 Coll., Section 2, Head VI, Part 4.

Brno, the 7th of May, 2014

Jan Cigánek

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Dr. Ing. Zbyněk Raida for his advice and invaluable guidance throughout my research.



The research described in the thesis was performed in frame of the FP7 project HIRF-SE, the registration number 205294.

Further financing was provided by the Czech Ministry of Education (the grant no. 7R09008).







The research described in my thesis was performed in laboratories of the SIX Research Center, the registration number CZ.1.05/2.1.00/03.0072, the operational program Research and Development for Innovation.



Brno, the 7th of May, 2014

Jan Cigánek

CONTENTS

| 1 | IN | INTRODUCTION | | |
|---|------------|--|----------|--|
| | 1.1 | MOTIVATION FOR THE FINITE ELEMENT APPROACH | 10 | |
| 2 | S | FATE OF THE ART | 12 | |
| - | 0.1 | | 10 | |
| | 2.1 | GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF FEM | 12 | |
| | 2.2 | FINITE ELEMENT METHOD IN ELECTROMAGNETISM | 12 | |
| | 2.5 2 A | | 12 | |
| | 2.7 | | 15 | |
| 3 | 0 | BJECTIVES | 15 | |
| 4 | F | INITE ELEMENT TIME DOMAIN METHOD | 16 | |
| | 4.1 | TIME DOMAIN VERSUS FREQUENCY DOMAIN | 16 | |
| | 4.2 | GENERAL ASPECTS OF TIME DOMAIN MODELING | 17 | |
| | 4.3 | FINITE ELEMENTS | 18 | |
| | 4.4 | TIME DOMAIN APPROXIMATION – IMPROVED EQUATION | 22 | |
| | 4.5 | COMPARISON OF TEMPORAL SCHEMES | 25 | |
| | 4.6 | MODELLING OF MATERIALS | 27 | |
| | 4.7 | CONCLUSION | 27 | |
| 5 | T | ECHNIQUES FOR ANALYZING FIELDS IN DISPERSIVE MEDIA | 29 | |
| | 51 | DISPERSIVE MATERIAL | 29 | |
| | 5.2 | DISPERSIVE MODEL IN TIME DOMAIN | 29 | |
| | 5.3 | DISPERSIVE MODELS | 30 | |
| | 5.3 | 3.1 Debye model | 30 | |
| | 5.3 | 3.2 Lorentz model | 31 | |
| | 5.3 | 3.3 Drude model | 31 | |
| | 5.4 | METHODS FOR ANALYZING FIELDS IN DISPERSIVE MEDIA | 31 | |
| | 5.5 | RECURSIVE CONVOLUTION METHOD | 32 | |
| | 5.6 | DIRECT TIME INTEGRATION (DTI) | 33 | |
| | 5.0 | 6.1 Debye model | 33 | |
| | 5.0 | 6.2 Lorentz model | 34 | |
| | 5.0 | 6.3 Drude model | 34 | |
| | 5.7 | DIGITAL FILTER BASED TECHNIQUE | 35 | |
| |). 5 | 7.1 Debye model | 33 | |
| |). 5 / | 7.2 Druda model | 26 | |
| | 5. | 7.5 Diude model | 30 | |
| | 5.8 | Conclusion | 37 | |
| (| T | | 20 | |
| 0 | L | IME DOMAIN FINITE ELEMENT MODELING OF DISPERSIVE MEDIA | 39 | |
| | 6.1 | MATHEMATICAL MODELS AND SPACE DISCRETIZATION | 39 | |
| | 6. | 1.1 Model development for 1-D problem | 39 | |
| | 6. | 1.2 Spatial discretization in 1-D | 40 | |
| | 6. 2 | 1.5 Ivide development for 5-D problem 1.4 Spatial discretization in 2 D | 42 | |
| | 0. | ד.4 spanar discretization in 5-D | 42 15 | |
| | 0.2 | DED IE MODEL | 4J 15 | |
| | 6.4 6.4 | 2.1 Direct Time Integration 2.2 Recursive convolution technique | 47 | |
| | 6 | 2.3 Digital filter based technique | 49 | |
| | 6 | 2.4 Comparison and verification of methods | 51 | |
| | 6.3 | LORENTZ MODEL | 54 | |
| | | | | |

| | 6.3.1 | Direct Time Integration | . 54 |
|---|----------|--|------|
| | 6.3.2 | Digital filter based technique | . 57 |
| | 6.3.3 | Comparison and verification of methods | . 59 |
| | 6.4 Drui | DE MODEL | . 60 |
| | 6.4.1 | Direct Time Integration | . 61 |
| | 6.4.2 | Digital filter based technique | . 63 |
| | 6.4.3 | Comparison of methods | . 65 |
| | 6.5 CON | CLUSION | . 66 |
| 7 | CONCI | LUSIONS | . 67 |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Fig. 4.1: Initial boundary-value problem: computational domain truncated by artificial surface |
|---|
| Fig. 4.2: Temporal shape functions |
| Fig. 4.3: The most useful weighting functions. Left (from the top): average acceleration, central difference (Dirac impulse), linear acceleration. Right (from the top): Fox-Goodwin method, ($\beta = 1/2$, $\gamma = 1/10$), Galerkin method |
| Fig. 4.4: Comparison of temporal schemes. Result after the first reflection: an non-sharp excitation pulse |
| Fig. 4.5: Comparison of temporal schemes. Result after the first reflection: a sharper excitation pulse was considered |
| Fig. 6.1: Frequency response of the reflection coefficient at the input of the waveguide WR90 loaded by the obstacle with parameters of breast tissue. Time domain (red, solid) versus frequency domain (blue, dashed) |
| Fig. 6.2: Frequency response of the reflection coefficient at the input of the waveguide loaded by the obstacle with non-physical parameters. Time domain (red, solid) versus frequency domain (blue, dashed) |
| Fig. 6.3: Time response of the electric field intensity at a depth of 15 mm in the Debye medium |
| Fig. 6.4: Time response of the electric field intensity at a depth of 15 mm in the Debye medium: a detail |
| Fig. 6.5: Time response of the electric field intensity at the depth of 0.01 mm in the Lorentz model of the dispersive medium irradiated from free space |
| Fig. 6.6: Time response of the electric field intensity in a Lorentz model of the dispersive coat of a metallic sphere irradiated from free space |
| Fig. 6.7: Time response of the electric field intensity in the Drude model of the dispersive coating of the metallic sphere illuminated in the free space 66 |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table 4.1: Results for temporal schemes. 25 |
|--|
|--|

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

| EM | Electromagnetic | |
|---------|--|--|
| FETD | Finite Element Time Domain | |
| FDTD | Finite Difference Time Domain | |
| FEM | Finite Element Method | |
| HIRF-SE | High Intensity Radiated Fields – Synthetic Environment | |
| BUTFE | Brno University of Technology Finite Elements | |
| ABC | Absorbing Boundary Condition | |
| RC | Recursive Convolution | |
| ADE | Auxiliary Differential Equation | |
| PEC | Perfect Electric Conductor | |
| FD | Finite Difference | |
| FV | Finite Volume | |
| IE | Integral Equation | |
| CEM | Computational Electromagnetic | |
| IBVP | Initial-Boundary Value Problem | |
| DTI | Direct Time Integration | |

1 INTRODUCTION

Analysis of general electromagnetic (EM) problems such as wave propagation, scattering or waveguide simulation has been a topic in engineering for a long time. With growing speed of computers, some of these problems have been successfully solved by numerical methods [1]. But there are still many real problems which are necessary to be solved at this time [2].

One of the most useful numerical methods is the finite element time domain (FETD) method. Even though the FETD has lots of advantages, the method is not as developed as the most similar finite difference time domain (FDTD) method where lots of techniques has been proposed.

Finite element method (FEM) appropriately solves particular electromagnetic problems [3]. In order to obtain more precise results, it is necessary to use sophisticated physical and mathematical models. In another step, we have to develop appropriate techniques for solving these models. Improvement of older algorithms and development of new ones is a critical task for solving complex structures which mainly demand lots of memory storage, and computational processes require lots of running time. Although almost all measurements are defined in frequency domain, it is highly useful to solve these problems numerically in time domain [4].

Complex structures to be analyzed cover a large computational domain, and moreover, are often made from various materials (i.e., are strongly inhomogeneous). A simple model, which includes constant coefficients of properties of materials, is usually poorly suitable for obtaining sufficient results [1]. Employing loss, anisotropy or dispersion into solved numerical models distinctly improves required accuracy. On the other hand, corresponding mathematical models become more complicated, and approaches for solving them require additional improvement.

If a standard Finite-Element Time-Domain (FETD) code is assembled, it is relatively effortless to implement techniques for modeling the losses and anisotropy. On the other hand, the process for the implementation of a dispersive medium brings more troubles. In order to model various real materials, we have to use different dispersive models. An insufficient work has been published on modeling dispersive media by FETD methods [5].

1.1 Motivation for the Finite Element Approach

In electromagnetics, the finite element method has been used for over forty years. Although lots of techniques have been developed for this method, there are still issues in electromagnetics that need to be solved [2].

HIRF-SE

Exploitation of numerical methods for solving electromagnetic compatibility (EMC) problems is one of major unsolved tasks [6]. The European project *High Intensity Radiated Fields – Synthetic Environment* (HIRF-SE) was aimed to develop

a computer framework for numerical techniques, which would be suitable for aeronautical industry [7]. This project involved 44 participants including Brno University of Technology (BUT). Our responsibility included the development of a tool based on the finite element time domain method.

BUTFE solver

For purposes of the HIRF-SE project, we developed a tool called BUTFE (Brno University of Technology Finite Elements). The tool is a full-wave solver based on the FETD method. The BUTFE was mainly developed for the simulation of electrically large structures such as a whole aircraft [8]. Required test cases were properly solved with an appropriate accuracy during the HIRF-SE project [9]. Successful results proved that the solver is able to handle with specific electromagnetic structures.

Some test cases for the HIRF-SE verification involved dispersive materials. This was the strongest challenge because there is a lack of appropriate approaches for analyzing electromagnetic fields in dispersive media by finite element time domain methods [5].

The lack of approaches for creating dispersive models by FETD in a combination with model requirements formulated in the HIRF-SE project motivated us to develop suitable approaches for the FETD method.

2 STATE OF THE ART

In this chapter, we will present the state of the art in the field of the finite element time domain method for analyzing electromagnetic problems. We will concentrate mainly on approaches developed for analyzing electromagnetic fields in dispersive materials.

2.1 General description of FEM

Generally, the finite element method (FEM) is a numerical method for solving boundary-value problems. FEM is widely used in various engineering fields [10]. FEM is a part of so-called variational methods [11]. The origin of the method can be found in work of Courant published in 1942 [12]. There are many books describing FEM from a mathematical point of view [13]. Some commercial solvers for the design of electromagnetic structures are based on this method like ANSYS, COMSOL, HFSS and PAM-CEM.

2.2 Finite element method in electromagnetism

Mathematical models suitable for the analysis by FEM can be found in many books about electromagnetic fields [14]. The fundamental information about the exploitation of FEM in electromagnetism can be found in papers and books [15], [16]. The excellent book dealing with the implementation of FEM for electrical engineers is surely [17]. Lots of useful approaches for electromagnetic problems are described in [3] and [18]. There are many articles focused on specific aspects of FEM like basis functions [19], accuracy [20], stability [21], applications [22] etc. Advantages and disadvantages with respect to other numerical methods can be found in various papers and books, for instance [23].

2.3 Finite element time domain

A relatively low number of articles and books have been published on the utilization of finite element time domain (FETD) method for the analysis of electromagnetic problems compared to other numerical methods. A general overview including important references for the FETD method was published in [24].

The most cited contribution to FETD with the widely used numerical scheme called the Newmark method was published in [25]. A detailed description of time schemes for different equations is available in the book [26]. An approach for time discretization of the wave equation is described in [27].

Since the finite element method is suitable for so-called closed problems, we have to introduce special boundary conditions when solving open-space problems. A useful method for an accurate plane-wave excitation in scattering problems is called the totaland-scattered-field decomposition [28]. Gerrit Mur proposed a method called Absorbing Boundary Condition (ABC) for the finite-difference time-domain (FDTD) method which has been successfully implemented into FETD [29] too. This approach can be employed for the total-and-scattered-field decomposition technique [30]. A proper description of ABC for FEDT can be found in the book [20].

An important article about the stability for the most commonly used time schemes can be found in the paper [31]. New and improved techniques for the finite element time domain method were described in the book [4].

Nowadays, FETD is often hybridized with other numerical methods. This hybridization has been developed for solving complex problems [32]. New methods based on finite element methods have been developed in [33].

2.4 Dispersive media

Methods of the time-domain analysis of electromagnetic fields in environments, which can contain dispersive materials, have been investigated for a long time [34]. Since the main difference between the FETD and the FDTD is the spatial discretization, the same approaches used for implementing frequency dispersive media in FDTD could be employed for FETD after certain modifications. Therefore, we can consider methods for FDTD as a potential approach for FETD.

Behavior of electromagnetic fields in dispersive media is described in many papers [35]. Propagation of the plane wave in dispersive media is studied for instance in [36]. There are exact solutions of certain problems related to electromagnetic fields in dispersive media [37]. Some of these methods have been developed for specific applications in the time domain based on reflection data [38].

Generally, we have to use full-wave methods such as FDTD or FETD [39] for the solution of wave propagation in dispersive media.

The major problem with the time-domain analysis of electromagnetic fields in dispersive materials can be specified as follows [4]. In the time domain, the constitutive relation between the electric field \mathbf{E} and the displacement field \mathbf{D} is given by [40]

$$\mathbf{D}(\mathbf{r},t) = \int_{-\infty}^{t} \varepsilon(\mathbf{r},t-\tau) \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},\tau) d\tau \qquad (2.1)$$

where \mathbf{r} is the position vector and t denotes time.

The expression describes a convolution between the electric field intensity \mathbf{E} and the permittivity ε . As mentioned above, this expression is difficult to be evaluated by analytical methods.

The discrete form of (2.1) consists of the following approach. The time variable is discretized as $t = n\Delta t$ where *n* is a natural number. The field quantity is denoted as $E(n\Delta t) = E^n$. A direct implementation of (2.1) requires the storage of the entire past time series of E^n . This approach is obviously not efficient to be used [41].

Different dispersive models such as the Debye model, the Lorentz model or the Drude model are used for modeling of electromagnetic fields in a real dispersive material [42]. Each model describes fields in a real medium with specific properties

[43]. The Debye model is the simplest one. Therefore, there are several possible methods for analyzing fields with the Drude model compared to other models [44].

There are basically three main approaches for all models to obtain update equations with frequency-dependent media: (1) the *Recursive Convolution* (RC), (2) the *Auxiliary Differential Equation* (ADE) and (3) the method based on the inverse-transformation [45]. Some approaches have no clear physical background. Some approaches for FDTD techniques were published in the overview [46]. A complex summary and an analysis of approaches for numerical methods have been presented in a relatively new paper [5]. Obviously, there are much more approaches for FDTD than for FETD.

Approaches for FETD and FDTD analysis of fields in dispersive media are mostly based on using the recursive convolution [47]. FETD methods based on the recursive convolution were described in [48]. An easily implemented scheme for FETD, but only for the Debye model, was described in [49]. The use of ADE to implement dispersive models is shown in [50]. A relatively good method based on the Inverse Fourier transform, which was first employed for FDTD [51], was described in [52]. The authors concentrated on applications which can be simplified into 1-D problems. This method elegantly avoids solving the time convolution by defining the dispersive polarization [53].

A proper way of implementing update schemes for dispersive models into a hybrid solver is proposed in [54]. Some papers describe approaches for dealing with dispersive models in special applications [55].

3 OBJECTIVES

The finite element method (FEM) is a powerful numerical method for solving boundary-value problems. Even though this approach is highly developed, there are still some weaknesses which can cause problems to achieve acceptable results in a reasonable computational time.

Each dispersive material can be described by a specific dispersive model but there is a lack of effective algorithms for solving an interaction of electromagnetic fields with dispersive materials by finite element time domain (FETD) methods.

The dissertation is aimed to develop new techniques and improve existing techniques which will be suitable for the analysis of electromagnetic fields in dispersive media by finite element time domain methods. Especially, we turn our attention to:

- Developing a FETD method for the analysis of electromagnetic fields in dispersive media using the Debye model;
- Developing a FETD method for the analysis of electromagnetic fields in dispersive media using the Lorentz model.
- Developing a FETD method for the analysis of electromagnetic fields in dispersive media using the Drude model.
- Solving initial-boundary value problems which include frequency dependent materials by FETD methods.

There are some approaches to employing the Debye model in the FETD method since it is the simplest model for the description of electromagnetic fields in dispersive materials. The Debye model is predominantly suitable for liquids.

Approaches to employing other dispersive models in the FETD method have not been investigated sufficiently yet. Namely, the Lorentz model, which is widely used for solids, and the commonly used Drude model wait for further investigation. All these mentioned models can describe fields in a wide spectrum of real materials. Various approaches for analyzing electromagnetic fields in dispersive media by using these models in FETD methods are necessary for modern electromagnetics.

4 FINITE ELEMENT TIME DOMAIN METHOD

This chapter concentrates on a general description of the finite element time domain (FETD) method. The main advantages and disadvantages of the FETD method are discussed. Here, we describe the most important aspects of the FETD method, which are necessary for understanding following chapters.

The largest part of this chapter is devoted to the derivation of a general algorithm for time schemes which will result in the improved final equation. A comparison of suitable time schemes for FETD methods is provided.

A general overview and a detailed description of the FETD method can be found in [16]. Advanced techniques for the FETD method are described in [4].

4.1 Time domain versus frequency domain

Maxwell's equations can be formulated in the time domain or the frequency domain. Numerical solvers for both the domains have their advantages and disadvantages. A robust implementation and a fast solution of a system of linear equations are the most important aspects usually [4]. Basically, we solve Maxwell's equations in one domain only because the solution for another domain can be obtained by using the Fourier transform. In reality, the choice of the domain depends on the nature of solved problems, computational time, experiences etc. [15].

Disadvantages of the time domain

- Many measurements are defined in the frequency domain.
- The frequency domain solver has to solve a system of linear equations for each frequency which is independent on the excitation. It is trivial to find a solution for a new excitation.
- In the frequency domain, the density of the mesh varies with different frequency. The recommendations for the mesh generation are related to the wavelength. Generation of an appropriate mesh for the time domain is more complicated.
- The mathematical model in the time domain is more complicated compared to the frequency domain.
- Modeling of an appropriate excitation is difficult in the time domain.
- Modeling dispersive media in the time domain is rather complicated.
- There are not many papers and books on time domain electromagnetics.

Advantages of the time domain

• Formulation of problems in the time domain can provide the solutions over a wide band of frequencies using the Fourier transform.

- All processes in the real world are a function of time.
- Time-domain algorithms are better suited for parallel processing.
- Better visual representations for understanding the field interactions can be implemented in the time domain.
- Time domain methods are capable to model nonlinear components, devices and media effectively [56].

4.2 General aspects of time domain modeling

The formulation and the numerical implementation of time domain models involve several basic steps in general. In this paragraph, we will briefly describe the main steps and potential complications. In later chapters, we will provide a detailed description of the implementation of the FETD method.

Model development

The major problem always consists in creating a proper mathematical model which sufficiently describes physical phenomena. The creation of a model is especially difficult for complex problems such as a structure with various materials or even a whole aircraft [2]. In order to reduce the computational time efficiently, we have to find an appropriate physical approximation of a real problem and an appropriate mathematical model of this physical approximation [13]. In many cases, the metal is modeled as a *Perfect Electric Conductor* (PEC), vacuum coefficients are used instead of air coefficients etc. These approximations mostly depend on used methods, a computational domain and required accuracy of the results.

Numerical method

Another major step consists in applying the finite element method on the approximation of the mathematical model. FEM is suitable for a specific class of electromagnetic problems. Often, FEM has to be necessarily extended or combined FEM with other numerical methods [4]. For example:

- Absorbing boundary conditions have to be introduced so that open electromagnetic problems can be modeled;
- Models of dispersive materials have to be introduced so that fields in frequencydependent structures can be analyzed [54].

Approach for solving a problem

We consider the time-dependent Maxwell curl equations or their equivalents. These equations are sampled in space and time utilizing an appropriate geometrical space grid and suitable basis functions and testing functions [20]. In order to save computational resources, it is always useful to use the simplest approximation which ensures sufficient results.

Excitation requirements

Results of the analysis of time domain problems are highly dependent on a way of the excitation. In many cases, an incident plane wave is used. There are more methods of modeling the excitation [57]. Boundary conditions belong to the most useful ones [28].

4.3 Finite elements

The finite element method (FEM) is a powerful and versatile tool for the analysis of various electromagnetic problems. Together with Finite Differences (FD), Finite Volumes (FV), Integral Equations (IE) and various hybrid techniques, FEM is a part of computational electromagnetic (CEM) techniques [18]. These techniques have been successfully implemented in many commercial software packages for analyzing real-life electromagnetic problems [2]. CEM techniques have improved over the years. Nowadays, CEM are able to analyze various complex problems. But there are still many problems that have to be solved.

Every method from CEM has specific advantages and areas of applicability. Comparison of different CEM methods can be found in many papers [58].

The finite element method is a general numerical method for solving boundaryvalue problems, which are described by partial differential equations and boundary conditions [59]. In the case of time domain, boundary conditions have to be completed by initial conditions also.

The standard application of FEM for the analysis of EM problems is described in detail in many texts [1]. FEM provides an approximation of an unknown field quantity over the whole analyzed structure.

Generally, a boundary-value problem can be defined in the domain denoted Ω :

$$\Im \phi = f \tag{4.1}$$

where \Im is a differential operator, *f* is the excitation or the forcing function and ϕ denotes the unknown quantity. Solution of this problem is defined in the Hilbert space [13]. Equation (4.1) together with specific boundary conditions can build a problem to be solved by FEM.

FEM comprises many parts of numerical mathematics such as meshing, approximation, solving systems of ordinary differential equations, solving systems of linear equations etc. [20].

The crucial part of FEM includes assembling finite-element matrices. Various methods have been developed for this purpose. The Ritz method, known as a variational finite-element method and the Galerkin method have been used most widely [1].

The Ritz method obtains solutions by minimizing a functional. Definition of a functional is the most difficult part of this approach.

The Galerkin method is a special case of the weighted residual method where the residuum has to be orthogonal to the basis functions. Basis functions are used for the approximation of an unknown quantity [11]. If the differential operator in equation (4.1)

is self-adjoint, positive definite etc., then the Galerkin method results in the same finiteelement matrices as the Ritz approach [13].

We use the Galerkin approach in later chapters.

Mathematical model

As mentioned above, the finite element method is a numerical method for obtaining approximate solutions of boundary value problems. In the electromagnetism, FEM solves boundary value problems including Maxwell's equations or wave equations and boundary conditions.

In the time domain, an initial-boundary value problem (IBVP) in the volume Ω includes the wave equation, and can be defined as follows:

$$\nabla \times \left(\frac{1}{\mu} \nabla \times \mathbf{E}\right) + \sigma \frac{\partial \mathbf{E}}{\partial t} + \varepsilon \frac{\partial^2 \mathbf{E}}{\partial t^2} = 0 \text{ in } \Omega$$
(4.2)

Here **E** is the vector of electric field intensity, σ is the electric conductivity, ε and μ are permittivity and permeability. The typical boundary conditions are:

$$\mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{E} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega_{\mathrm{e}} \tag{4.3a}$$

$$\mathbf{n} \times (\nabla \times \mathbf{E}) = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega_{\mathrm{m}} \tag{4.3b}$$

where $\partial \Omega_e$ and $\partial \Omega_m$ denotes perfect electric and perfect magnetic surfaces respectively, **n** is the unit normal vector of the surface.

The condition (4.3a) implies that the tangential component of the electric field equals zero over the surface of a perfectly conductive wall, which is often called an electric wall. The second condition (4.3b) is the boundary coincident with its symmetrical lines. The equation implies the same for the tangential component of a magnetic field. The surface is called a magnetic wall [4].

The following initial conditions are given to obtain a unique solution. Usually, initial conditions are assumed to be zero:

$$\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},0) = 0 \quad \frac{\partial \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},0)}{\partial t} = 0 \tag{4.3b}$$

The electromagnetic problem defined by (4.2) to (4.4) can be solved analytically for few cases only. For most problems, we can find an approximate solution by numerical methods such as finite elements.

Many electromagnetic problems are defined in an open area. Since the FEM a discretization of a whole computational domain, we have to truncate the unbounded space into a finite space. Figure 4.1 shows this concept.



Fig. 4.1: Initial boundary-value problem: computational domain truncated by artificial surface.

The ideal boundary condition causes that the radiated field passes the boundary without any distortion or reflection. The mathematical expression for the first-order absorbing boundary condition is

$$\mathbf{n} \times \left(\frac{1}{\mu_0} \nabla \times \mathbf{E}\right) + Y_0 \mathbf{n} \times \left(\mathbf{n} \times \frac{1}{\partial t} \mathbf{E}\right) \approx 0$$
(4.5)

Here, **E** is electric field intensity, **n** is the normal to the boundary, and Y_0 is admittance of free space.

The absorbing boundary condition (4.5) has to be placed in a sufficient distance away from the analyzed object for achieving a reasonable accuracy [4].

The expressions (4.2) to (4.5) are an example of possible mathematical models. Generally, (4.2) to (4.5) is the most frequently used form of the wave equation with possible boundary conditions. This mathematical model will be used to demonstrate our setup goals sufficiently.

An appropriate model needs to be developed for a particular electromagnetic problem [13].

Space discretization of finite element method

We start the space discretization with the formulation of a weak form of the wave equation (4.2) [1]. As mentioned above, we will choose the Galerkin method for computing the approximation of electromagnetic fields. We apply the divergence theorem and the vector identity on the equation (4.2). Then, boundary conditions (4.3) and a proper choice of *N* testing functions $V_i(\mathbf{r})$ yields:

$$\iiint_{\Omega} \left\{ \left[\nabla \times \mathbf{V}_{i} \right] \cdot \frac{1}{\mu} \left[\nabla \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t) \right] + \sigma \mathbf{V}_{i} \cdot \frac{\partial \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t)}{\partial t} + \mathbf{V}_{i} \cdot \varepsilon \frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t)}{\partial t^{2}} \right\} d\Omega = 0 \qquad (4.6)$$

where V_i is the vector weighting function, **E** is the electric field intensity, μ is the permeability and ε is the permittivity.

The electric field can be expanded in any time t and any position \mathbf{r} as follows:

$$\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},t) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} e^{i}(t) \mathbf{W}_{i}(\mathbf{r})$$
(4.7)

Here, $\mathbf{W}_{i}(\mathbf{r})$ are vector basis functions, and $e^{i}(t)$ denote time-dependent approximation coefficients. There are lots of books and papers discussing a proper choice of basis functions [60].

Defining $\mathbf{V}_i(\mathbf{r}) = \mathbf{W}_i(\mathbf{r})$ and integrating (4.6) over the whole computational domain Ω results in a system of ordinary differential equations [61]:

$$\mathbf{T}\frac{d^2 e(t)}{dt^2} + \mathbf{B}\frac{de(t)}{dt} + \mathbf{S}e(t) + \mathbf{f} = 0$$
(4.8)

Here, f stands for the excitation vector, and the individual entries of the finite element matrices S, B and T are given by:

$$S_{ij} = \int_{\Omega} \left(\nabla \times \mathbf{W}_{i}(\mathbf{r}) \right) \cdot \frac{1}{\mu} \left(\nabla \times \mathbf{W}_{j}(\mathbf{r}) \right) d\Omega$$
(4.9)

$$T_{ij} = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{W}_{i}(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \varepsilon \mathbf{W}_{j}(\mathbf{r}) d\Omega \qquad (4.10)$$

$$T_{ij} = \sigma \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{W}_i(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \mathbf{W}_j(\mathbf{r}) d\Omega$$
(4.11)

Lots of books have been published about space discretization. One of the best sources with various examples is in [1]. In the rest of the work we use symbol W for weighting (testing) functions and basis functions.

Time domain discretization

The equation (4.8) is usually discretized by time schemes such as a direct integration or a finite difference method [62]. There are just a few simple recommendations which scheme is suitable for which kind of a problem [26]. Equation (4.8) is a second-order ordinary differential equation, which can be solved by various approaches. The most popular technique is the Newmark method. The Newmark method includes two coefficients which define a specific time scheme. Generally, the Newmark method is unconditionally stable and exhibits the best truncation error [63].

For each time scheme, the time variable t is discretized as $t = n\Delta t$, where Δt denotes the time step and n is a natural number. The unknown coefficient e(t) in the equation (4.8) is approximated by the following expression:

$$e(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{M} e^{i}(t) N_{i}(t)$$
(4.12)

Here, M is the number of time steps and $N_i(t)$ denotes shape functions varied in time. The result of the Newmark method is the final equation which has to be solved for each time step [64]:

$$\left\{\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} + \frac{\gamma}{\Delta t}\mathbf{B} + \beta\mathbf{S}\right\}e^{n+1} = \left\{\frac{2}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} - \frac{1-2\gamma}{\Delta t}\mathbf{B} + \left(\frac{1}{2} + \gamma - 2\beta\right)\mathbf{S}\right\}e^{n}$$
$$-\left\{\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} - \frac{1-\gamma}{\Delta t}\mathbf{B} + \left(\frac{1}{2} - \gamma + \beta\right)\mathbf{S}\right\}e^{n-1}$$
$$-\left[\beta f^{n+1} + \left(\frac{1}{2} + \gamma - 2\beta\right)f^{n} + \left(\frac{1}{2} - \gamma + \beta\right)f^{n-1}\right]$$
(4.13)

Here, γ and β are coefficients to be properly chosen, **T**, **B** and **S** are finite-element matrices, Δt is the time step, e^n is the temporal sample of field intensity and f^n is the temporal sample of an excitation quantity.

The stability and the accuracy belong to very important issues of all numerical techniques. The scheme (4.13) is unconditionally stable for $\gamma \ge 1/2$ and $\beta \ge 1/4$ [65]. If we set $\gamma = 1/2$ and $\beta = 1/4$, the Newmark method is reduced to the trapezoidal rule:

$$\left\{\frac{1}{\Delta t^2}\mathbf{T} + \frac{1}{2\Delta t}\mathbf{B} + \frac{1}{4}\mathbf{S}\right\}e^{n+1} = \left\{\frac{2}{\Delta t^2}\mathbf{T} + \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{S}\right\}e^n$$

$$-\left\{\frac{1}{\Delta t^2}\mathbf{T} - \frac{1}{2\Delta t}\mathbf{B} + \frac{1}{4}\mathbf{S}\right\}e^{n-1} - \left[\frac{1}{4}f^{n+1} + \frac{1}{2}f^n + \frac{1}{4}f^{n-1}\right]$$
(4.14)

The paper [31] gives an overview of the stability of time schemes for FETD methods. The recommendation for the optimal length of the time step which ensures a sufficient accuracy can be found in [66]. This time step is defined as

$$\Delta t = \frac{\Delta x}{c\sqrt{m}} \tag{4.15}$$

where Δx is the minimal length of an edge in the spatial discretization, *c* is the speed of light and *m* is the dimension of the problem.

Another useful algorithm is the difference scheme due to its simplicity to derive and implement [20]. For some advanced approaches for solving complicated electromagnetic structures, we have to use a combination of presented algorithms [67].

4.4 Time domain approximation – improved equation

Deriving the Newmark scheme from the beginning is a complicated task, and it is hard to see what is behind this approximation [25]. In many papers, authors use this scheme without any deep explanation of behavior.

All time stepping algorithms including the Newmark method and the finite difference method can be derived with less effort by applying a weighted residual algorithm [27]. This approach gives us a deeper understanding of the time stepping processes, and can be effectively used for solving time dependent problems.

A detailed look at a general two-step algorithm

The derivation starts from the differential equation (4.8). The time variable t is discretized in the same manner as mentioned above. The unknown coefficient e(t) is approximated in every $2\Delta t$ interval by the expression

$$e(t) = \sum_{i=-1}^{1} e^{i} N_{i}(t)$$
 (4.1ž)

where $N_i(t)$ denotes a second-order polynomial expansion called the shape function (4.17). This expansion can be derived by using the Lagrange polynomial

$$N_{-1} = \frac{t^2}{2\Delta t^2} - \frac{t\Delta t}{2\Delta t^2} \qquad N_0 = -\frac{t^2 - \Delta t^2}{\Delta t^2} \qquad N_1 = \frac{t^2}{2\Delta t^2} + \frac{t\Delta t}{2\Delta t^2}$$
(4.17)

The temporal shape functions (4.17) are depicted in Fig 4.2.



Fig. 4.2: Temporal shape functions.

We substitute the coefficient e(t) given by (4.16) into the equation (4.8). Multiplying e(t) by a weighting function W and integrating over the time interval $2\Delta t$ gives us

$$\int_{-\Delta t}^{\Delta t} W \left\{ \mathbf{T} \sum \frac{\partial^2 N_i}{\partial t^2} e^i + \mathbf{B} \sum \frac{\partial N_i}{\partial t} e^i + \mathbf{S} \sum N_i e^i + \sum N_i \mathbf{f} \right\} dt = 0$$
(4.18)

The equation (4.18) shows us that we need to compute the first derivative of shape functions

$$\frac{\partial N_{-1}}{\partial t} = \frac{t}{\Delta t^2} - \frac{\Delta t}{2\Delta t^2} \qquad \frac{\partial N_0}{\partial t} = -\frac{2t}{\Delta t^2} \qquad \frac{\partial N_1}{\partial t} = \frac{t}{\Delta t^2} + \frac{\Delta t}{2\Delta t^2}$$
(4.19)

and the second derivative of the shape functions

$$\frac{\partial^2 N_{-1}}{\partial t^2} = \frac{1}{\Delta t^2} \qquad \frac{\partial^2 N_0}{\partial t^2} = -\frac{2}{\Delta t^2} \qquad \frac{\partial^2 N_1}{\partial t^2} = \frac{1}{\Delta t^2}$$
(4.20)

This treatment gives us an equation in the form

$$\int_{-\Delta t}^{\Delta t} W\left\{\mathbf{T}\left[e^{-1}-2e^{0}+e^{1}\right]+\mathbf{B}\left[\left(t-\frac{\Delta t}{2}\right)e^{-1}-2te^{0}+\left(t+\frac{\Delta t}{2}\right)e^{1}\right]\right]$$

$$+\mathbf{S}\left[\left(\frac{t^{2}}{2}-\frac{t\Delta t}{2}\right)e^{-1}-\left(t^{2}-\Delta t^{2}\right)e^{0}+\left(\frac{t^{2}}{2}+\frac{t\Delta t}{2}\right)e^{1}\right]+\Delta t^{2}\mathbf{f}\right\}dt=0$$
(4.21)

Introducing coefficients γ and β as weighted parameters given by

$$\gamma = \frac{\int_{-\Delta t}^{\Delta t} W \cdot \left(\frac{t}{\Delta t} + \frac{1}{2}\right) dt}{\int_{-\Delta t}^{\Delta t} W dt}$$

$$\beta = \frac{\frac{1}{2} \int_{-\Delta t}^{\Delta t} W \cdot \left(\frac{t^2}{\Delta t^2} + \frac{t}{\Delta t}\right) dt}{\int_{-\Delta t}^{\Delta t} W dt}$$
(4.22)

we can rewrite the equation (4.21) to the same equation as (4.13).

In this approach, the approximation behind coefficients γ and β is more obvious. The most useful weighting functions W are shown in Fig 4.3.



Fig. 4.3: The most useful weighting functions. Left (from the top): average acceleration, central difference (Dirac impulse), linear acceleration. Right (from the top): Fox-Goodwin method, $(\beta = 1/2, \gamma = 1/10)$, Galerkin method.

In order to achieve the same equation as (4.14), we need to use a weighting function defined on the interval $\langle -\Delta t, \Delta t \rangle$ as

$$W = \left| \frac{t}{\Delta t} \right| \tag{4.24}$$

Then, the coefficients (4.22) and (4.23) will be $\gamma = 1/2$ and $\beta = 1/4$. In Figure 4.3, the expression (4.24) corresponds with the function on the top left.

The same approach can be employed for general multi-step algorithms. The difference is in a choice of shape and weighting functions and the integration over a longer time discretized domain. This brings higher requirements on computational resources since the higher number of time coefficients is necessary to be stored. Generally, this two-step algorithm is sufficient enough for solving majority of electromagnetic problems.

4.5 Comparison of temporal schemes

There are many temporal schemes possibly used in FETD methods due to the generality of the algorithm. We published a comparison of the most appropriate schemes for FETD methods with the analytical method in [68].

| | γ | β | Method | Comment |
|---|------|------|----------------------|---|
| 1 | -1/2 | 0 | Forward difference | Unstable |
| 2 | 1/2 | 0 | Central difference | Oscillation, stable for small Δt |
| 3 | 3/2 | 1 | Backward difference | Stable, worse accuracy |
| 4 | 1/2 | 1/6 | Linear acceleration | Stable, for optimal Δt excellent result |
| 5 | 1/2 | 1/10 | | Worse accuracy, stable for small Δt |
| 6 | 3/2 | 4/5 | Galerkin | Unconditionally stable, worse accuracy |
| 7 | 1/2 | 1/12 | Fox-Goodwin | Worse accuracy, stable for small Δt |
| 8 | 1/2 | 1/4 | Average acceleration | Unconditionally stable, for optimal Δt excellent result |

 Table 4.1: Results for temporal schemes.

Our testing model involves the propagation of the electromagnetic wave with boundary conditions set to a perfect electric conductor to excite reflected waves. The comparison was aimed to find an appropriate time scheme for the FETD method. The result is used for the analysis of other problems including dispersive materials.

As an excitation pulse, we have chosen the power exponential pulse [69]

$$V_0(t) = V_{\max}\left(\frac{t}{t_r}\right)^v \exp\left[-v\left(\frac{t}{t_r}-1\right)\right] H(t)$$
(4.25)

Here, V_{max} is pulse amplitude, v is the rising exponent of the pulse, t_r is the pulse rise time and H(t) is the Heaviside unit step. This pulse has two important advantages : the pulse is causal and has a finite number of derivations. More detailed information about this comparison can be found in [68].



Fig. 4.4: Comparison of temporal schemes. Result after the first reflection: an non-sharp excitation pulse



Fig. 4.5: Comparison of temporal schemes. Result after the first reflection: a sharper excitation pulse was considered.

In Table 4.1, we can find results of the most suitable time schemes for the finite element time domain method with comments about their applicability. The scheme called *Average acceleration* provides the best results.

In Figure 4.4, we can see the comparison of some schemes from Table 4.1. Schemes are compared with the exact solution. The same kind of schemes is compared in Fig. 4.5 with a sharper excitation pulse. In this figure, each scheme has a problem to copy results of the exact solution. Again, the Average acceleration provides the best result even though oscillations are visible. This comparison shows how FETD solutions depend on an excitation pulse.

4.6 Modelling of materials

We can face some difficulties in the finite element approach if we want to analyze fields in environments comprising specific materials such as dispersive ones, anisotropic ones or others [4]. Analysis of electromagnetic fields in complex media is reviewed in [5].

A standard finite element approach using node-based elements could produce nonphysical solutions in case of different materials inside the analyzed structure. Edgebased basis functions were developed to overcome these difficulties [70]. The edge approximation exploits vectors and is able to solve the vector wave equation. Many papers have been published about this approach and the improvement of this type of approximation is still in progress [72].

It is also possible to analyze structures with anisotropic materials by the edge elements [9]. An anisotropic material is described by a tensor. The approach of the FETD method is almost the same as described in the previous chapter.

Let us suppose that we analyze fields in an environment where permeability and permittivity are considered to be anisotropic. In this case, permittivity and permeability are described by tensors μ and ϵ :

$$\boldsymbol{\mu} = \begin{bmatrix} \mu_{xx} & \mu_{xy} & \mu_{xz} \\ \mu_{yx} & \mu_{yy} & \mu_{yz} \\ \mu_{zx} & \mu_{zy} & \mu_{zz} \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \quad \boldsymbol{\varepsilon} = \begin{bmatrix} \varepsilon_{xx} & \varepsilon_{xy} & \varepsilon_{xz} \\ \varepsilon_{yx} & \varepsilon_{yy} & \varepsilon_{yz} \\ \varepsilon_{zx} & \varepsilon_{zy} & \varepsilon_{zz} \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.26)

Now, we need to change matrices (4.9) and (4.10):

$$S_{ij} = \int_{\Omega} \left(\nabla \times \mathbf{W}_{i}(\mathbf{r}) \right) \cdot \boldsymbol{\mu} \left(\nabla \times \mathbf{W}_{j}(\mathbf{r}) \right) d\Omega$$
(4.27)

$$T_{ij} = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{W}_{i}(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \boldsymbol{\varepsilon} \mathbf{W}_{j}(\mathbf{r}) d\Omega$$
(4.28)

The most serious complication is caused by a dispersive material. We are concentrating on this problem in the rest of the thesis.

4.7 Conclusion

Finite element method is a powerful tool for solving electromagnetic problems. The main advantages of formulating and analyzing electromagnetic problems in the time domain are a deeper understanding of real physical processes, even though there is an additional variable which has to be dealt with.

The main problem consists in creating a mathematical model which sufficiently describes physical phenomena. An appropriate application of the finite element method on the analysis of this problem is another important step.

In this chapter, we prepared the FETD approach for a later analysis of fields in dispersive media. Space discretization is described in many publications and does not need any special treatment due to dispersive model effects time discretization. An improved final equation allows a detailed look at the algorithm for time schemes.

We compared the most suitable approaches for FETD. We described ways of dealing with problems comprising various types of materials.

All these steps can be understood as a necessary preparation for defining the complex model comprising dispersive media to be solved by the FETD method in future chapters.

5 TECHNIQUES FOR ANALYZING FIELDS IN DISPERSIVE MEDIA

In this chapter, we will briefly introduce the theory behind the dispersive medium and will discuss the most frequently used mathematical models of dispersive media. We will discuss the methods for analyzing electromagnetic fields interacting with dispersive materials. Later, we will develop methods for analyzing electromagnetic problems including these dispersive models to be suitable for the FETD method.

5.1 Dispersive material

Material parameters can be assumed to be constant to obtain acceptably accurate results for some problems. The process of employing constant parameters is an approximation of real materials, because all materials exhibit dispersion to some extent in general [71].

To achieve more precise models of the interaction between electromagnetic fields and materials, we have to to define material as dispersive ones.

If the speed of a wave is constant and depends on the physical properties of the medium only, then the parameters of the medium do not depend on frequency. This medium is called a non-dispersive medium and waves traveling through this medium have a constant shape [73]. This is an idealized situation, of course.

In reality, the wave speed depends on the frequency of the wave. In this case, higher frequencies travel faster than lower frequencies. As a result, the wave pulse spreads out and changes its shape [74]. A deeper theory of dispersive media can be found in books about electromagnetic fields [75].

5.2 Dispersive model in time domain

The electromagnetic field is described by Maxwell's equations. The differential form of these equations is

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},t) = -\frac{\partial \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r},t)}{\partial t}, \qquad (5.1)$$

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{H}(\mathbf{r},t) = \frac{\partial \mathbf{D}(\mathbf{r},t)}{\partial t}, \qquad (5.2)$$

where, \mathbf{E} is the electric field, \mathbf{D} is the displacement field, \mathbf{H} is the magnetic field and \mathbf{B} is the magnetic induction.

The constitutive relations are completely independent on the Maxwell equations. The traditional description of constitutive relations is

$$\mathbf{D} = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_r \mathbf{E} \tag{5.3}$$

$$\mathbf{B} = \mu_0 \mu_r \mathbf{H} \tag{5.4}$$

where ε_r and μ_r are the relative permittivity and relative permeability, respectively. The relations (5.3) and (5.4) do not include any frequency dependence and are suitable for materials with constant parameters.

Several different models for the constitutive relations can be found in the literature [76]. The useful constitutive relation in the time domain is given by

$$\mathbf{D}(\mathbf{r},t) = \varepsilon_0 \left\{ \varepsilon_1(r) \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},t) + (\chi(\mathbf{r},.) * \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},.))(t) \right\}$$
(5.5)

$$\mathbf{B} = \boldsymbol{\mu}_0 \boldsymbol{\mu}_r \mathbf{H}, \qquad (5.6)$$

Here χ is the susceptibility kernel of the medium. The time convolution integral is defined as

$$\left(\chi(\mathbf{r},.)^*\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},.)\right)(t) = \int_{-\infty}^t \chi(\mathbf{r},t-t')\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},t')dt'$$
(5.7)

The finite element method mostly solves problems described by the wave equation instead of Maxwell equations. We can derive the wave equation without any complications from (5.1), (5.2) and (5.5), (5.6):

$$\nabla \times \left(\nabla \times \mathbf{E} \right) + \frac{1}{c^2} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2} \left(\varepsilon_r \mathbf{E} + \chi * \mathbf{E} \right) = 0, \qquad (5.8)$$

In a linear classical electrodynamics, most materials can be characterized as the Debye type material, the Lorentz type material or the Drude type material [48].

5.3 Dispersive models

Solving the equation (5.8) brings the problem with the time convolution. There are methods that use (5.8) directly. Defining the same problem in the frequency domain allows us to solve the time convolution in other ways. During the process, we use the Fourier transform to invert the problem into the time domain. This seems to be a useful process for avoiding a direct solving of the time convolution. For these reasons, we introduce each dispersive model in the frequency domain and the time domain suitable for our purposes. A useful source of dispersive models is [66]. A deep theoretical description of dispersive models can be found in [77].

5.3.1 Debye model

The Debye model also known as the *Relaxation model* is an appropriate model for polar liquids such as water. The susceptibility kernel in the time domain is defined as [43]:

$$\chi(t) = \left(\frac{\varepsilon_s - \varepsilon_{\infty}}{\tau}\right) e^{-t/\tau} U(t)$$
(5.9)

where ε_s is the static permittivity, ε_{∞} is the permittivity for $\omega \to \infty$, τ is the relaxation time and U(t) is the unit step.

The susceptibility kernel corresponding to (5.9) in frequency domain is

$$\chi(\omega) = \frac{\varepsilon_s - \varepsilon_\infty}{1 + j\omega\tau} \tag{5.10}$$

where ω is an angular frequency and *j* is the imaginary unit.

5.3.2 Lorentz model

Lorentz model or the *Resonance model* is used as a model for electromagnetic behavior in solids. The susceptibility kernel in the time domain is defined as [76]:

$$\chi(t) = \frac{\left(\varepsilon_s - \varepsilon_{\infty}\right)\omega_0^2}{\sqrt{\omega_0^2 - \delta^2}} e^{-\delta t} \sin\left(\sqrt{\omega_0^2 - \delta^2}t\right) U(t)$$
(5.11)

Here, ε_s is the static permittivity, ε_{∞} is the permittivity for $\omega \to \infty$, ω_0 is the resonant frequency, δ is the damping constant and U(t) is the unit step.

The susceptibility kernel corresponding to (5.11) in frequency domain is

$$\chi(t) = \frac{\left(\varepsilon_s - \varepsilon_{\infty}\right)\omega_0^2}{\omega_0^2 + j\omega\delta - \omega^2}$$
(5.12)

where ω is an angular frequency and *j* is the imaginary unit. Note that the relation between the damping constant and the relaxation time is $\delta = 1/\tau$.

5.3.3 Drude model

The susceptibility kernel for the Drude model in the time domain is defined as [78]:

$$\chi(t) = \frac{\omega_p^2}{\delta} (1 - e^{-\delta t}) U(t)$$
(5.13)

Here, ω_p is the pole angular frequency, δ is the damping constant and U(t) is the unit step.

The susceptibility kernel corresponding to (5.13) in frequency domain is

$$\chi(\omega) = \frac{\omega_p^2}{j\omega\delta - \omega^2} \tag{5.14}$$

where ω is an angular frequency and *j* is the imaginary unit. This model is a special case of the Lorentz model [79]. Note that the relation between the damping constant and the relaxation time is $\delta = 1/\tau$.

5.4 Methods for analyzing fields in dispersive media

Lots of methods have been developed and successfully applied for the finite difference time domain analysis of electromagnetic fields in dispersive media [80]. Not many of them have been used for finite element time domain methods. In many

approaches, the authors usually directly solve the time convolution which brings additional requirements for the memory storage. Algorithms are often difficult to apply and some of them do not have a clear physical background. Another reason for developing new algorithms is a complicated mathematical background of the existing ones and the an attempt of a relatively easier implementation [79].

As mentioned in the first chapter, the presented development was motivated by the HIRF-SE project and was aimed to improve or develop methods for the analysis of fields in environments comprising various dispersive models. We developed a new technique called the *Digital filter based method* which can be also employed by other numerical methods such as FDTD [81]. Further development has been concentrating on improving and applying existing techniques for the finite element time domain method. We worked on two other methods:

- The first method is based on the *Recursive Convolution*. This method was implemented for analyzing fields in environments with the Debye model of dispersive media only.
- The second method is based on the *Direct Time Integration* technique [51].

5.5 Recursive convolution method

This method is based on [49]. We use this method for the Debye model only. For other models, it is difficult to deal with the susceptibility kernel.

In this method, the displacement field is substituted into the wave equation before the implementation of the FETD method. The wave equation contains time convolution in the second time derivative. This method deals with problems including the formulation (5.8). In the system of ordinary differential equations, we have to solve the time convolution. We can use more ways to discretize this convolution in this system. Our approach uses the technique where the time convolution is discretized by the following time scheme which is obtained from a two-step algorithm:

$$\frac{\partial^2 (\chi * e)}{\partial t^2} = \frac{C^{n+1} - 2C^n + C^{n-1}}{\Delta t^2}$$
(5.15)

where *C* denotes a discrete form of the time convolution

$$C^{k} = \left(e^{*}\chi\right)^{k} \tag{5.16}$$

for k = n + 1, n, n - 1.

The term C^{n+1} is then evaluated recursively

$$C^{n+1} = \alpha C^n + \int_{n\Delta t}^{(n+1)\Delta t} \chi((n+1)\Delta t - \tau) e(\tau) d\tau$$
(5.17)

Here, α can represent the past development of the time convolution, which has a usual form of an exponential function. The coefficient α can be relatively easily obtained for the Debye model. For other models, the evaluation of the coefficient α causes additional problems.

The temporarily variable coefficient e(t) for electric field is discretized by an approach such as

$$e(t) = e^n + \frac{e^{n+1} - e^n}{\Delta t} (t - n\Delta t)$$
(5.18)

Then the integral in (5.17) is solved. The result depends on the kernel χ .

In other methods based on the *Recursive Convolution*, the second derivative of the time convolution is separated and the kernel or the coefficient for electric field is expressed without the second time derivative [48].

5.6 Direct Time Integration (DTI)

The DTI technique has been successfully employed by the FDTD method. DTI can be used for all the investigated dispersive models without additional complications. The method is based on the transformation of the electric field and the displacement field into the time domain by the Inverse Fourier transform. This equation is discretized by a numerical technique. As a result, a coefficient for the displacement field d in the time step n+1 is obtained. The wave equation is discretized for both the field variables e and d. The term d in the discrete form of the wave equation for the time step n+1 is then substituted from the result of d in the time step n+1 from the previously mentioned equation.

There are various models of dispersive media suitable for this method. We firstly will describe the general approach for the DTI technique [51]. This method is based on [53] where authors concentrate on 1-D problems only.

For dispersive media, we can define the macroscopic electric polarization P. The relation between D, E and P is

$$D = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_r E + P \tag{5.19}$$

To include frequency dependence into the TDFE model, we will use the relation between D and P. Let us compute the Inverse Fourier transform of the complex permittivity expression

$$\varepsilon(\omega) = \frac{D(\omega)}{P(\omega)} \tag{5.20}$$

At any time step n, this method requires the storage of M previous values of D and M-1 previous values of E beyond the current field values. The final formula has a form

$$E^{i} = f\left(D^{i}, ..., D^{i-M}; E^{i-1}, ..., E^{i-M}\right)$$
(5.21)

where *M* is the order of the time scheme.

5.6.1 Debye model

We show how this method works for the first-order Debye dispersion model. This model is described in the frequency domain by

$$P = \varepsilon_0 \frac{\varepsilon_s - \varepsilon_\infty}{1 + j\omega\tau} E$$
(5.22)

We rewrite this equation

$$(1+j\omega\tau)P = \varepsilon_0 \left(\varepsilon_s - \varepsilon_{\infty}\right)E \tag{5.23}$$

Applying Inverse Fourier transform on (5.23) brings a first-order differential equation in time

$$P + \tau \frac{dP}{dt} = \varepsilon_0 \left(\varepsilon_{\infty} - \varepsilon_s \right) E \tag{5.24}$$

This equation is then discretized by appropriate numerical methods to obtain a final discrete scheme.

5.6.2 Lorentz model

The Lorentz model is described in the frequency domain by

$$P = \varepsilon_0 \frac{\left(\varepsilon_s - \varepsilon_\infty\right)\omega_0^2}{\omega_0^2 + j\omega\delta - \omega^2}E$$
(5.25)

We rewrite this equation

$$\left(\omega_0^2 + j\omega\delta - \omega^2\right)P = \varepsilon_0\left(\varepsilon_s - \varepsilon_{\infty}\right)\omega_0^2E$$
(5.26)

Applying Inverse Fourier transform on (5.23) brings a first-order differential equation in time

$$\omega_0^2 P + \delta \frac{dP}{dt} + \frac{d^2 P}{dt^2} = \varepsilon_0 \left(\varepsilon_\infty - \varepsilon_s\right) \omega_0^2 E$$
(5.27)

This equation is then discretized by appropriate numerical methods to obtain a final discrete scheme.

5.6.3 Drude model

The Drude model is described in the frequency domain by

$$P = \varepsilon_0 \frac{\omega_p^2}{j\omega\delta - \omega^2} E$$
(5.28)

We rewrite this equation

$$\left(j\omega\delta - \omega^2\right)P = \varepsilon_0 \omega_p^2 E \tag{5.29}$$

Applying Inverse Fourier transform on (5.23) brings a first-order differential equation in time

$$\delta \frac{dP}{dt} + \frac{d^2 P}{dt^2} = \varepsilon_0 \omega_p^2 E \tag{5.30}$$

This equation is then discretized by appropriate numerical methods to obtain a final discrete scheme.

5.7 Digital filter based technique

We have developed an approach for dispersive models based on a digital filtering [81]. This approach is also suitable for other numerical methods. The method is based on the bilinear transformation.

The concept of expressing the time domain simulation in terms of the z variable, used in discrete time systems, is applied. The frequency characteristics of chosen dispersive models are transformed into the z plane using the so called bilinear transformation, which maps the imaginary axis of the s plane into the unit circle on the z plane. The resulting digital filter gives the relation between the electric field and the electric displacement vectors. This approach can be easily implemented with an appropriate accuracy into the finite element time domain method.

As a starting point of further considerations, we use the formulas (5.10), (5.12) and (5.14) defined by the *s* variable on a complex plane. Since we concentrate on the time discretization only, the symbols *D* and *E* used in the rest of the thesis stand for continuous vector fields, and the symbols d^n and e^n stand for vectors of samples taken in finite element nodes in the time step $n\Delta t$, where *n* is a natural number and Δt is the time step.

Our approach uses the bilinear transformation, described in [83]

$$s = \frac{2}{\Delta t} \frac{1 - z^{-1}}{1 + z^{-1}} \tag{5.31}$$

This transformation is used to map the complex variable s into the z plane so that the imaginary axis on the s plane is the unit circle on the z plane.

All the models (5.10), (5.12) and (5.14) can be expressed as a transfer function in the space of the Z transform:

$$H(z^{-1}) = \frac{D(z^{-1})}{E(z^{-1})}$$
(5.32)

From this expression, we can obtain discrete time schemes.

5.7.1 Debye model

The relation for the Debye model (5.10) between the *s* transforms of *D* and *E* is

$$D(s) = \frac{\Delta \varepsilon}{1 + s\tau} E(s) \tag{5.33}$$

Substituting (5.31) into (5.33) yields the transfer function

$$\frac{D(z^{-1})}{E(z^{-1})} = \frac{\Delta \varepsilon (1+z^{-1})}{1+z^{-1}+\frac{2\tau}{\Delta t}(1-z^{-1})} E(s)$$
(5.34)

From (5.34), we can directly write the corresponding difference formula

$$\left(1 + \frac{2\tau}{\Delta t}\right)d^{n+1} + \left(1 - \frac{2\tau}{\Delta t}\right)d^n = \Delta\varepsilon e^{n+1} + \Delta\varepsilon e^n$$
(5.35)

which finally yields the direct update scheme

$$d^{n+1} = -\frac{C_2}{C_1}d^n + \frac{\Delta\varepsilon}{C_1}e^{n+1} + \frac{\Delta\varepsilon}{C_1}e^n$$
(5.36)

where

$$C_1 = 1 + \frac{2\tau}{\Delta t} \tag{5.37}$$

$$C_2 = 1 - \frac{2\tau}{\Delta t} \tag{5.38}$$

5.7.2 Lorentz model

The relation for the Lorentz model (5.12) between the *s* transforms of *D* and *E* is

$$D(s) = \frac{\Delta \varepsilon \omega_0^2}{\omega_0^2 + s\delta + s^2} E(s)$$
(5.39)

Substituting (5.31) into (5.39) yields the transfer function

$$\frac{D(z^{-1})}{E(z^{-1})} = \frac{\Delta \varepsilon \omega_0^2 + 2\Delta \varepsilon \omega_0^2 z^{-1} + \Delta \varepsilon \omega_0^2 z^{-2}}{C_1 + C_2 z^{-1} + C_3 z^{-2}}$$
(5.40)

where

$$C_1 = \omega_0^2 + \frac{2}{\Delta t}\delta + \frac{4}{\Delta t^2}$$
(5.41)

$$C_2 = 2\omega_0^2 - \frac{8}{\Delta t^2}$$
(5.42)

$$C_3 = \omega_0^2 - \frac{2}{\Delta t}\delta + \frac{4}{\Delta t^2}$$
(5.43)

From (5.40) we can directly write the direct update scheme:

$$d^{n+1} = -\frac{C_2}{C_1}d^n - \frac{C_3}{C_1}d^{n-1} + \frac{\Delta\varepsilon\omega_0^2}{C_1}e^{n+1} + \frac{2\Delta\varepsilon\omega_0^2}{C_1}e^n + \frac{\Delta\varepsilon\omega_0^2}{C_1}e^{n-1}$$
(5.44)

5.7.3 Drude model

The relation for the Drude model (5.14) between the *s* transforms of *D* and *E* is
$$D(s) = \frac{\omega_p^2}{s\delta + s^2} E(s)$$
(5.45)

Substituting (5.31) into (5.45) yields the transfer function

$$\frac{D(z^{-1})}{E(z^{-1})} = \frac{\omega_p^2 + 2\omega_p^2 z^{-1} + \omega_p^2 z^{-2}}{C_1 + C_2 z^{-1} + C_3 z^{-2}}$$
(5.46)

where

$$C_1 = \frac{2}{\Delta t}\delta + \frac{4}{\Delta t^2}$$
(5.47)

$$C_2 = -\frac{8}{\Delta t^2} \tag{5.48}$$

$$C_3 = -\frac{2}{\Delta t}\delta + \frac{4}{\Delta t^2}$$
(5.49)

From (5.46), we can directly write the direct update scheme:

$$d^{n+1} = -\frac{C_2}{C_1}d^n - \frac{C_3}{C_1}d^{n-1} + \frac{\omega_p^2}{C_1}e^{n+1} + \frac{2\omega_p^2}{C_1}e^n + \frac{\Delta\varepsilon\omega_p^2}{C_1}e^{n-1}$$
(5.50)

5.7.4 Discrete scheme

The corresponding wave equation, discretized in space, is of the following form:

$$\mathbf{L}E = -\frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2}D\tag{5.51}$$

Here, the symbol \mathbf{L} acts as the differential operator discretized in space. The operator is defined according to the finite element method. Application of the time scheme for the discretization in time yields

$$\mathbf{L}\left(\frac{e^{n+1}}{4} + \frac{e^{n}}{2} + \frac{e^{n-1}}{4}\right) = \frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\left(d^{n+1} - 2d^{n} + d^{n-1}\right)$$
(5.52)

Substitution of expressions (5.36), (5.44) or (5.50) into (5.52) yields the final formulas.

5.8 Conclusion

In this chapter, we briefly presented the theory of the dispersive medium and the most frequently used dispersive models of dispersive media. We described three methods for analyzing electromagnetic fields in environments with objects described by these dispersive models:

• The first method of field analysis in dispersive environments is based on the *Recursive convolution*. We can use this method for the Debye model of dispersive media only due to its difficulty.

• The second method of field analysis in dispersive environments is based on the *Direct Time Integration* technique.

Both these approaches and their employing in the FETD method can improve the process of analyzing electromagnetic fields in dispersive media.

The last method is a newly developed method which exploits principles of digital filtering techniques [84]. This method can be used for all the three developed models of dispersive media.

6 TIME DOMAIN FINITE ELEMENT MODELING OF DISPERSIVE MEDIA

In this chapter, we will discuss the exploitation of the finite element time domain (FETD) method for analyzing electromagnetic fields in dispersive media. We will use all the FETD approaches discussed in Chapter 4 (Ritz approach, Galerkin approach, different temporal schemes). We will investigate all the FETD methods for fields in dispersive media described in Chapter 5 (the recursive convolution, the direct time integration, the digital filtering technique).

The chapter concentrates on the FETD analysis of fields in free-space containing a dispersive material which is represented by a specific dispersive model (the Drude one, the Lorentz one, the Debye one). The free-space is defined as a vacuum. Absorbing boundary conditions are employed to truncate the free-space.

First, we will introduce the mathematical formulation of fields in free space containing general dispersive models of 1-D and 3-D objects. Then, we will discuss methods for analyzing fields. Mathematical models for both the dimensions of interest are discretized in space according to an appropriate FEM. Developed dispersive models do not depend on space; models affect the time discretization only.

Finally, FETD methods for analyzing fields in dispersive media are compared.

6.1 Mathematical models and space discretization

6.1.1 Model development for 1-D problem

We start the description of the mathematical model with an initial-boundary value problem which includes wave equation for the electric field in the computational domain defined on the interval *z*:

$$\frac{1}{\mu_0} \frac{\partial^2 E(x,t)}{\partial z^2} = \frac{\partial^2 D(x,t)}{\partial t^2} + \sigma \frac{\partial E(x,t)}{\partial t} \quad z \in \langle a,b \rangle$$
(6.1)

Here, E is the electric field intensity, D is the displacement vector, μ_0 stands for freespace permeability, μ_r stands for relative permeability, and σ is electric conductivity.

In order to truncate the finite computational domain, we introduce absorbing boundary conditions which describe the behavior of electric field in boundary points. This can be defined as

$$\left|\frac{\partial E(x,t)}{\partial t} - c\frac{\partial E(x,t)}{\partial z}\right|_{z=a} = 0$$
(6.2a)

$$\left| \frac{\partial E(x,t)}{\partial t} + c \frac{\partial E(x,t)}{\partial z} \right|_{z=b} = 0$$
 (6.2b)

where c denotes the speed of light in vacuum.

For simplicity, we omit parentheses after each variable but still assume that all the variables are functions of space and time.

Our models use an electric field as an excitation pulse. Source of the electric field is based on a technique called the total field decomposition. The total field in equation (6.1) can be defined as

$$E = E^{inc} + E^{sc} \tag{6.3}$$

where *E* represents the total field, E^{inc} is the incident field and E^{sc} denotes the scattered field. We expect no reflection on the boundary from the scattered field. We consider the source in the boundary point *a*. This can be defined as

$$\left|\frac{1}{c}\frac{\partial E^{sc}}{\partial t} - \frac{\partial E^{sc}}{\partial z}\right|_{z=a} = 0$$
(6.4)

Substituting (6.3) into (6.4), we obtain:

$$\left|\frac{1}{c}\frac{\partial E}{\partial t} - \frac{\partial E}{\partial z}\right|_{z=a} = \left|\frac{1}{c}\frac{\partial E^{inc}}{\partial t} - \frac{\partial E^{inc}}{\partial z}\right|_{z=a}$$
(6.5)

The expression to be used for describing the total electric field on the boundary, which defines the absorbing boundary condition and the source, is given by

$$\left|\frac{\partial E}{\partial z}\right|_{z=a} = \left|\frac{1}{c}\frac{\partial E}{\partial t} - \frac{1}{c}\frac{\partial E^{inc}}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial E^{inc}}{\partial z}\right|_{z=a}$$
(6.6)

The homogeneous initial conditions to be used later are defined as

$$E(x,0) = 0 \tag{6.7a}$$

$$\frac{\partial E(x,0)}{\partial t} = 0 \tag{6.7b}$$

6.1.2 Spatial discretization in 1-D

Assuming the existence of a unique solution, we can formulate the weak form of the solution by using weighted residual method. In this approach, we multiply the wave equation (6.1) by testing functions W, and integrate the product over the whole interval $\langle a, b \rangle$. Note that the testing function W is a function of space only:

$$\int_{a}^{b} W \left(\frac{1}{\mu_0} \frac{\partial^2 E}{\partial z^2} - \frac{\partial^2 D}{\partial t^2} - \sigma \frac{\partial E}{\partial t} \right) dz = 0$$
(6.8)

The equation (6.8) can be rewritten:

$$\int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial^2 D}{\partial t^2} dz + \sigma \int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial E}{\partial t} dz - \frac{1}{\mu_0} \int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial^2 E}{\partial z^2} dz = 0$$
(6.9)

The last part of the left-hand side term of (6.9) can be modified using integration by parts

$$-\frac{1}{\mu_0}\int_a^b W \frac{\partial^2 E}{\partial z^2} dz = \begin{vmatrix} u = W & u' = W' \\ v' = \frac{\partial^2 E}{\partial z^2} & v = \frac{\partial E}{\partial z} \end{vmatrix} = -\frac{1}{\mu_0} \left| W \frac{\partial E}{\partial z} \right|_a^b + \frac{1}{\mu_0} \left(\int_a^b \frac{\partial W}{\partial z} \frac{\partial E}{\partial z} dz \right)$$
(6.10)

Equation (6.10) equals to

$$-\frac{1}{\mu_0} \left(W(b) \frac{\partial E(b)}{\partial z} - W(a) \frac{\partial E(a)}{\partial z} \right) + \frac{1}{\mu_0} \left(\int_a^b \frac{\partial W}{\partial z} \frac{\partial E}{\partial z} dz \right)$$
(6.11)

We replace the last part of equation (6.9) by (6.11):

$$\int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial^{2} D}{\partial t^{2}} dz + \sigma \int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial E}{\partial t} dz - \frac{1}{\mu_{0}} \left(W(b) \frac{\partial E(b)}{\partial z} - W(a) \frac{\partial E(a)}{\partial z} \right) + \frac{1}{\mu_{0}} \left(\int_{a}^{b} \frac{\partial W}{\partial z} \frac{\partial E}{\partial z} dz \right) = 0$$
(6.12)

The weak form of the wave equation (6.1), which includes absorbing boundary conditions (ABC; 6.2b) and source (6.6), looks like:

$$\int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial^{2} D}{\partial t^{2}} dz + \sigma \int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial E}{\partial t} dz + \frac{1}{\mu_{0}} \left(W(b) \left| \frac{1}{c} \frac{\partial E}{\partial t} \right|_{z=b} + W(a) \left| \frac{1}{c} \frac{\partial E}{\partial t} - \frac{1}{c} \frac{\partial E^{inc}}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial E^{inc}}{\partial z} \right|_{z=a} \right) + \frac{1}{\mu_{0}} \left(\int_{a}^{b} \frac{\partial W}{\partial z} \frac{\partial E}{\partial z} dz \right) = 0$$

$$(6.13)$$

In order to solve the equation (6.13), we need to approximate the electric field E. The approximation of the electric field E is given by

$$E(t,z) = \sum_{i=0}^{M} W_i(z) e_i(t)$$
(6.14)

where basis functions W are the same as testing functions used above (the Galerkin approach). We substitute the electric field in (6.13) by (6.14) and obtain the equation

$$\mathbf{T}\frac{\partial^2 D}{\partial t^2} + (\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B})\frac{\partial e}{\partial t} + \mathbf{S}e + \mathbf{g} = 0$$
(6.15)

where matrices are defined as

$$S_{ij} = \frac{1}{\mu_0} \int_a^b \frac{\partial W_i}{\partial z} \frac{\partial W_j}{\partial z} dz$$
(6.16)

$$Q_{ij} = \sigma \int_{a}^{b} W_i W_j dz \tag{6.17}$$

$$B_{ij} = \frac{1}{\mu_0} \frac{1}{c} \Big[W_i(a) W_j(a) + W_i(b) W_j(b) \Big]$$
(6.18)

The source vector is

$$g_{i} = \frac{1}{\mu_{0}} \left[W_{i}\left(a\right) \left(-\frac{1}{c} \frac{\partial E^{inc}\left(a\right)}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial E^{inc}\left(a\right)}{\partial z} \right) \right]$$
(6.19)

The first term on the left-hand side in the equation (6.15) is not defined yet. Approximation of the displacement vector D depends on a technique to be used and a model of the dispersive material.

6.1.3 Model development for 3-D problem

The wave equation for electric field in the computational domain V is

$$\nabla \times \left[\frac{1}{\mu_0 \mu_r} \nabla \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t) \right] + \frac{\partial^2 \mathbf{D}(\mathbf{r}, t)}{\partial t^2} + \sigma \frac{\partial \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t)}{\partial t} = 0 \quad \mathbf{r} \in V$$
(6.20)

where **E** is electric field, **D** is displacement vector, μ_0 stands for free-space permeability, μ_r stands for relative permeability, and σ is electric conductivity.

An absorbing boundary condition for the simulation of electric field in free space is given on the surface S_{ABC} by

$$\mathbf{n} \times \left[\frac{1}{\mu_0 \mu_r} \nabla \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t)\right] + Y_0 \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left[\mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t)\right] = 0 \quad \mathbf{r} \in S_{ABC}$$
(6.21)

where **n** is the outward unit vector normal to the surface, Y_0 is the free-space admittance.

The source of electric field is based on a total field decomposition:

$$\mathbf{E} = \mathbf{E}^{inc} + \mathbf{E}^{sc} \tag{6.22}$$

where **E** represents the total field, \mathbf{E}^{inc} is the incident field and \mathbf{E}^{sc} is the scattered field. The surface, where the source is supposed, is denoted as S_{inc} . We expect no reflections on the boundary from scattered fields. After certain modifications, this can be defined as

$$\mathbf{n} \times \left[\frac{1}{\mu_{0} \mu_{r}} \nabla \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t) \right] + Y_{0} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left[\mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t) \right] =$$

$$\mathbf{n} \times \left[\frac{1}{\mu_{0} \mu_{r}} \nabla \times \mathbf{E}^{inc}(\mathbf{r}, t) \right] + Y_{0} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left[\mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{E}^{inc}(\mathbf{r}, t) \right]$$
(6.23)

The homogeneous initial conditions to be used later are defined as

$$\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{t}) = 0 \tag{6.24a}$$

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t)}{\partial t} = 0 \tag{6.24b}$$

6.1.4 Spatial discretization in 3-D

Assuming the existence of a unique solution, we can formulate the weak form of the solution using the Galerkin approach. In this approach, we multiply the wave equation (6.20) by testing functions N and integrate the product over the whole volume V. Note that N is the function of space only:

$$\iiint_{V} \mathbf{W}(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \left(\nabla \times \left[\frac{1}{\mu_{0} \mu_{r}} \nabla \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t) \right] + \frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{D}(\mathbf{r}, t)}{\partial t^{2}} + \sigma \frac{\partial \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t)}{\partial t} \right) dV = 0$$
(6.25)

The equation (6.25) can be rewritten to

$$\iiint_{V} \mathbf{W}(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \left(\nabla \times \left[\frac{1}{\mu_{0} \mu_{r}} \nabla \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t) \right] \right) dV + \iiint_{V} \mathbf{W}(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \left(\frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{D}(\mathbf{r}, t)}{\partial t^{2}} \right) dV + \iiint_{V} \mathbf{W}(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \left(\sigma \frac{\partial \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t)}{\partial t} \right) dV = 0$$
(6.26)

The first part on the left-hand side of the equation (6.26) can be modified using the vector identity

$$\mathbf{a} \cdot \big(\nabla \times \mathbf{b} \big) = \big(\nabla \times \mathbf{a} \big) \cdot \mathbf{b} - \nabla \cdot \big(\mathbf{a} \times \mathbf{b} \big)$$

as

$$\iiint_{V} \mathbf{W}(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \left(\nabla \times \left[\frac{1}{\mu_{0} \mu_{r}} \nabla \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t) \right] \right) dV =$$

$$\iiint_{V} \left[\nabla \times \mathbf{W}(\mathbf{r}) \right] \cdot \left[\frac{1}{\mu_{0} \mu_{r}} \nabla \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t) \right] dV - \iiint_{V} \nabla \cdot \left(\mathbf{W}(\mathbf{r}) \times \left[\frac{1}{\mu_{0} \mu_{r}} \nabla \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t) \right] \right) dV$$
(6.27)

The last term on the right-hand side of the equation (6.27) can be rewritten using the divergence theorem

$$\iiint\limits_{V} \nabla \cdot \mathbf{f} dV = \bigoplus\limits_{S} \mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{f} dS \tag{6.28}$$

which yields

$$\iiint_{V} \nabla \cdot \left(\mathbf{W}(\mathbf{r}) \times \left[\frac{1}{\mu_{0} \mu_{r}} \nabla \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t) \right] \right) dV = \bigoplus_{S} \mathbf{n} \cdot \left[\mathbf{W}(\mathbf{r}) \times \left(\frac{1}{\mu_{0} \mu_{r}} \nabla \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t) \right) \right] dS (6.29)$$

Applying the vector identity

$$(\mathbf{a} \times \mathbf{b}) \cdot \mathbf{c} = -\mathbf{a}(\mathbf{c} \times \mathbf{b})$$

we can obtain from (6.29) the expression

$$\bigoplus_{S} \mathbf{n} \cdot \left[\mathbf{W}(\mathbf{r}) \times \left(\frac{1}{\mu_{0} \mu_{r}} \nabla \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t) \right) \right] dS = - \bigoplus_{S} \mathbf{W}(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \left[\mathbf{n} \times \left(\frac{1}{\mu_{0} \mu_{r}} \nabla \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t) \right) \right] dS \quad (6.30)$$

The final form of the first part on the left-hand side of equation (6.26) is

$$\iiint_{V} \mathbf{W}(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \left(\nabla \times \left[\frac{1}{\mu_{0} \mu_{r}} \nabla \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t) \right] \right) dV =$$

$$\iiint_{V} \left[\nabla \times \mathbf{W}(\mathbf{r}) \right] \cdot \left[\frac{1}{\mu_{0} \mu_{r}} \nabla \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t) \right] dV + \bigoplus_{S} \mathbf{W}(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \left[\mathbf{n} \times \left(\frac{1}{\mu_{0} \mu_{r}} \nabla \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t) \right) \right] dS$$
(6.31)

The last term on the left-hand side of (6.31) enables us to implement the ABC and the excitation.

The weak form of the wave equation (6.20) including the ABC (6.21) and the excitation (6.23) is

$$\iiint_{V} \mathbf{W}(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \left(\frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{D}(\mathbf{r},t)}{\partial t^{2}}\right) dV + \iiint_{V} \mathbf{W}(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \left(\sigma \frac{\partial \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},t)}{\partial t}\right) dV$$

$$+ \iiint_{V} \left[\nabla \times \mathbf{W}(\mathbf{r})\right] \cdot \left[\frac{1}{\mu_{0}\mu_{r}} \nabla \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},t)\right] dV - \bigoplus_{S_{ABC}} \mathbf{W}(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \left[Y_{0} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left[\mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},t)\right]\right] dS$$

$$- \bigoplus_{S_{inc}} \mathbf{W}(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \left[Y_{0} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left[\mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},t)\right]\right] dS +$$

$$\bigoplus_{S_{inc}} \mathbf{W}(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \left[\mathbf{n} \times \left[\frac{1}{\mu_{0}\mu_{r}} \nabla \times \mathbf{E}^{inc}(\mathbf{r},t)\right] + Y_{0} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left[\mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{E}^{inc}(\mathbf{r},t)\right]\right] dS = 0$$
(6.32)

In order to solve the equation (6.32), we need to approximate the electric field **E**:

$$\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},t) = \sum_{i=0}^{M} \mathbf{W}_{i}(\mathbf{r}) e_{i}(t)$$
(6.33)

Here, the approximation (basis) functions N are the same as testing functions used above. We substitute the electric field in (6.32) by (6.33) and obtain the equation

$$\mathbf{T}\frac{\partial^2 D}{\partial t^2} + (\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B})\frac{\partial e}{\partial t} + \mathbf{S}e + \mathbf{g} = 0$$
(6.34)

Here, the matrices are defined as

$$S_{ij} = \frac{1}{\mu_0 \mu_r} \iiint_V \nabla \times \mathbf{W}_i \cdot \nabla \times \mathbf{W}_j dV$$
(6.35)

$$Q_{ij} = \sigma \iiint_{V} \mathbf{W}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{W}_{j} dV$$
(6.36)

$$B_{ij} = -Y_0 \bigoplus_{S_{ABC}} \mathbf{W}_i \cdot \left[\mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{W}_j \right] dS - Y_0 \bigoplus_{S_{inc}} \mathbf{W}_i \cdot \left[\mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{W}_j \right] dS$$
(6.37)

The source vector is given by the expression:

$$g_{i} = \bigoplus_{S_{inc}} \mathbf{W}_{i} \cdot \left[\mathbf{n} \times \left[\frac{1}{\mu_{0} \mu_{r}} \nabla \times \mathbf{E}^{inc} \left(\mathbf{r}, t \right) \right] + Y_{0} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left[\mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{E}^{inc} \left(\mathbf{r}, t \right) \right] \right] dS \qquad (6.38)$$

The first term on the left-hand side in the equation (6.34) is not defined yet. The approximation of the displacement vector **D** depends on the technique used and the model of the dispersive material.

Obviously, equations (6.15) and (6.34) are of the same form. Thanks to this reason, we can provide an approach for solving this form of the equation.

6.2 Debye model

In this paragraph, we will investigate the Debye model.

6.2.1 Direct Time Integration

The relation between E and D for 1-D problem is given by the expression

$$D = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_\infty E + P \tag{6.39}$$

The first part in the equation (6.13) then becomes

$$\int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial^2 D}{\partial t^2} dz = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_\infty \int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial^2 E}{\partial t^2} dz + \int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial^2 P}{\partial t^2} dz$$
(6.40)

For the approximation of \mathbf{E} , we use the same expression as in (6.14), and \mathbf{P} is given by

$$P(x,t) = \sum_{i=0}^{M} W_i(x) p_i(t)$$
(6.41)

The equation (6.15) is now transformed into

$$\mathbf{T}\frac{\partial^2 e}{\partial t^2} + \left(\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B}\right)\frac{\partial e}{\partial t} + \mathbf{S}e + \mathbf{T}^p \frac{\partial^2 p}{\partial t^2} + \mathbf{g} = 0$$
(6.42)

Here, coefficients e and p are functions of time and new matrices **T** and **T**^p are defined as

$$T_{ij} = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_\infty \int_a^b W_i W_j dz \tag{6.43}$$

$$T_{ij}^{p} = \int_{a}^{b} W_{i}W_{j}dz \tag{6.44}$$

In the case of a 3-D problem, the first part of the equation (6.32) becomes

$$\iiint_{V} \mathbf{W} \cdot \left(\frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{D}}{\partial t^{2}}\right) dV = \varepsilon_{0} \varepsilon_{\infty} \iiint_{V} \mathbf{W} \cdot \left(\frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{E}}{\partial t^{2}}\right) dV + \iiint_{V} \mathbf{W} \cdot \frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{P}}{\partial t^{2}} dV$$
(6.45)

For the approximation of \mathbf{E} we use the same expression as in (6.33) and \mathbf{P} is given by

$$\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{r},t) = \sum_{i=0}^{M} \mathbf{W}_{i}(\mathbf{r}) p_{i}(t)$$
(6.46)

The equation (6.34) is now transformed into (6.42). Only the matrices \mathbf{T} and \mathbf{T}^p are defined as

$$T_{ij} = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_\infty \iiint_V \mathbf{N}_i \cdot \mathbf{N}_j dV \tag{6.47}$$

$$T_{ij}^{p} = \iiint_{V} \mathbf{N}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{N}_{j} dV$$
(6.48)

The initial conditions can be defined for 1-D as

$$P(x,0) = 0 \quad \frac{\partial P(x,0)}{\partial t} = 0 \tag{6.49a}$$

and for 3-D as

$$\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{r},0) = 0 \quad \frac{\partial \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{r},0)}{\partial t} = 0 \tag{6.49b}$$

Now we can treat the equation (6.42) in the same manner for both the dimensions.

The description of the Debye model is given by the differential equation of the form

$$\tau \frac{\partial p}{\partial t} + p = \varepsilon_0 \left(\varepsilon_s - \varepsilon_\infty \right) e \tag{6.50}$$

We need the second derivative of the equation (6.50) since there is the second derivative of p in the equation (6.42):

$$\frac{\partial^2 p}{\partial t^2} = -\frac{1}{\tau} \frac{\partial p}{\partial t} + \frac{\varepsilon_0}{\tau} \left(\varepsilon_s - \varepsilon_\infty\right) \frac{\partial e}{\partial t}$$
(6.51)

Substituting (6.51) and t (6.50) into the equation (6.42), we obtain:

$$\mathbf{T}\frac{\partial^2 e}{\partial t^2} + \left(\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B} + \mathbf{T}^e\right)\frac{\partial e}{\partial t} + \left(\mathbf{S} + \mathbf{T}^m\right)e + \mathbf{T}^k p + \mathbf{g} = 0$$
(6.52)

where

$$\mathbf{T}^{e} = \frac{\varepsilon_{0}}{\tau} \left(\varepsilon_{s} - \varepsilon_{\infty} \right) \mathbf{T}^{p}$$
(6.53)

$$\mathbf{T}^{m} = -\frac{\varepsilon_{0}}{\tau^{2}} \left(\varepsilon_{s} - \varepsilon_{\infty} \right) \mathbf{T}^{p}$$
(6.54)

$$\mathbf{T}^{k} = \frac{1}{\tau^{2}} \mathbf{T}^{p} \tag{6.55}$$

Now, we have a system of ordinary differential equations (6.52) which can be solved by an appropriate time scheme.

Applying a two-step algorithm described in Chapter 4.4, we can rewrite (6.52) to the system

$$\mathbf{T}\left(\frac{e^{n+1}-2e^{n}+e^{n-1}}{\Delta t^{2}}\right) + \left(\mathbf{Q}+\mathbf{B}+\mathbf{T}^{e}\right)\left(\frac{e^{n+1}-e^{n-1}}{2\Delta t}\right) + \left(\mathbf{S}+\mathbf{T}^{m}\right)\left(\frac{e^{n+1}+2e^{n}+e^{n-1}}{4}\right) + \mathbf{T}^{k}p^{n} + \mathbf{g}^{n} = 0$$
(6.56)

The final equation is of the form:

$$\left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} + \frac{1}{2\Delta t}\left(\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B} + \mathbf{T}^{e}\right) + \frac{1}{4}\left(\mathbf{S} + \mathbf{T}^{m}\right)\right)e^{n+1} = -\left(\frac{-2}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} + \frac{1}{2}\left(\mathbf{S} + \mathbf{T}^{m}\right)\right)e^{n}$$
$$-\left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} - \frac{1}{2\Delta t}\left(\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B} + \mathbf{T}^{e}\right) + \frac{1}{4}\left(\mathbf{S} + \mathbf{T}^{m}\right)\right)e^{n-1} - \mathbf{T}^{k}p^{n} - \mathbf{g}^{n}$$
(6.57)

The equation (6.57) has only the variable *e* in the time step n+1. This means that we can solve this system of linear equations. To obtain proper coefficients for the term p^n in (6.57), we again use the equation (6.50). For this purpose, we will apply the θ -method on (6.50):

$$\tau \frac{p^n - p^{n-1}}{\Delta t} = -p^{n+\theta} + \varepsilon_0 \left(\varepsilon_s - \varepsilon_\infty\right) e^{n+\theta}$$
(6.58)

Generally:

$$v^{n+\theta} = \theta v^n + (1-\theta) v^{n-1} \tag{6.59}$$

Then:

$$p^{n}\left(1+\theta\frac{\Delta t}{\tau}\right) = \left[1-\frac{\Delta t}{\tau}\left(1-\theta\right)\right]p^{n-1} + \varepsilon_{0}\left(\varepsilon_{s}-\varepsilon_{\infty}\right)\frac{\Delta t}{\tau}\left(\theta e^{n}+\left(1-\theta\right)e^{n-1}\right) \quad (6.60)$$

The equation (6.57) has to be solved in each time step. The optimum value of the coefficient θ is 1/2.

6.2.2 Recursive convolution technique

The relation between E and D for 1-D problem is given by

$$D = \varepsilon_0 \hat{\varepsilon}_r E \tag{6.61}$$

where

$$\hat{\varepsilon}_{r} = \varepsilon_{\infty} + \frac{\left(\varepsilon_{s} - \varepsilon_{\infty}\right)}{\tau} \exp\left(\frac{-t}{\tau}\right) = \varepsilon_{\infty} + \chi$$
(6.62)

Implying the relation (6.61) into the first part of the equation (6.13), we obtain

$$\int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial^2 D}{\partial t^2} dz = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_\infty \int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial^2 E}{\partial t^2} dz + \varepsilon_0 \int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial^2 (E * \chi)}{\partial t^2} dz$$
(6.63)

The equation (6.15) is of the form now

$$\mathbf{T}\frac{\partial^2 e}{\partial t^2} + (\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B})\frac{\partial e}{\partial t} + \mathbf{S}e + \mathbf{T}^c \frac{\partial^2 (e^* \chi)}{\partial t^2} + \mathbf{g} = 0$$
(6.64)

where

$$T_{ij} = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_\infty \int_a^b W_i W_j dz$$
(6.65)

$$T_{ij}^c = \varepsilon_0 \int_a^b W_i W_j dz \tag{6.66}$$

In the case of a 3-D problem, the first part in the equation (6.32) becomes

$$\iiint\limits_{V} \mathbf{W} \cdot \left(\frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{D}}{\partial t^{2}}\right) dV = \varepsilon_{0} \varepsilon_{\infty} \iiint\limits_{V} \mathbf{W} \cdot \left(\frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{E}}{\partial t^{2}}\right) dV + \varepsilon_{0} \iiint\limits_{V} \mathbf{W} \cdot \frac{\partial^{2} \left(\mathbf{E}^{*} \boldsymbol{\chi}\right)}{\partial t^{2}} dV \qquad (6.67)$$

The equation (6.34) is now of the same form as (6.64). Only the matrices **T** and **T**^p are defined as

$$T_{ij} = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_\infty \iiint_V \mathbf{W}_i \cdot \mathbf{W}_j dV$$
(6.68)

$$T_{ij}^{c} = \varepsilon_{0} \iiint_{V} \mathbf{W}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{W}_{j} dV$$
(6.69)

Now we have the system of ordinary differential equations (6.64) which can be solved by an appropriate time scheme.

Applying two-step algorithm described in the Chapter 4.4, we obtain from (6.64) the system:

$$\mathbf{T}\left(\frac{e^{n+1}-2e^n+e^{n-1}}{\Delta t^2}\right) + \left(\mathbf{Q}+\mathbf{B}\right)\left(\frac{e^{n+1}-e^{n-1}}{2\Delta t}\right) + \mathbf{S}\left(\frac{e^n+2e^n+e^n}{4}\right) + \mathbf{T}^c\left(\frac{C^{n+1}-2C^n+C^{n-1}}{\Delta t^2}\right) + \mathbf{g}^n = 0$$
(6.70)

where

$$C^{k} = \left(E^{*}\chi\right)^{k} \tag{6.71}$$

for k = n + 1, n, n - 1.

We can write the expression

$$C^{n+1} = \exp\left(-\frac{\Delta t}{\tau}\right)C^n + \int_{n\Delta t}^{(n+1)\Delta t} \chi\left((n+1)\Delta t - \tau\right)e(\tau)d\tau$$
(6.72)

which is the recursive form of (5.9).

We approximate *e* as follows:

$$e(t) = e^n + \frac{e^{n+1} - e^n}{\Delta t} (t - n\Delta t)$$
(6.73)

The expression for C^{n+1} is then

$$C^{n+1} = \exp\left(-\frac{\Delta t}{\tau}\right)C^{n} + \psi_{1}e^{n+1} + \psi_{2}e^{n}$$
(6.74)

where

$$\psi_{1} = \tau \left(\chi \left(0 \right) \left(1 - \frac{\tau}{\Delta t} \right) + \chi \left(\Delta t \right) \frac{\tau}{\Delta t} \right) e^{n+1}$$
(6.75a)

$$\Psi_{2} = \tau \left(\chi \left(0 \right) \frac{\tau}{\Delta t} - \chi \left(\Delta t \right) \left(1 + \frac{\tau}{\Delta t} \right) \right) e^{n}$$
(6.75b)

Substituting (6.74) into (6.70), we obtain the final equation

$$\mathbf{T}\left(\frac{e^{n+1}-2e^{n}+e^{n-1}}{\Delta t^{2}}\right) + \left(\mathbf{Q}+\mathbf{B}\right)\left(\frac{e^{n+1}-e^{n-1}}{2\Delta t}\right) + \mathbf{S}\left(\frac{e^{n}+2e^{n}+e^{n}}{4}\right)$$
$$+\mathbf{T}^{c}\left(\frac{\exp\left(-\frac{\Delta t}{\tau}\right)C^{n}+\psi_{1}e^{n+1}+\psi_{2}e^{n}-2C^{n}+C^{n-1}}{\Delta t^{2}}\right) + \mathbf{g}^{n} = 0$$
(6.76)

which can be rewritten into

$$\left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} + \frac{1}{2\Delta t}(\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B}) + \frac{1}{4}\mathbf{S} + \frac{\psi_{1}}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T}^{c}\right)e^{n+1} = -\left(\frac{-2}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} + \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{S} + \frac{\psi_{2}}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T}^{c}\right)e^{n}$$
$$-\left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} - \frac{1}{2\Delta t}(\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B}) + \frac{1}{4}\mathbf{S}\right)e^{n-1}$$
$$-\frac{\left[\exp\left(-\frac{\Delta t}{\tau}\right) - 2\right]}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T}^{c}C^{n} - \frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T}^{c}C^{n-1} - \mathbf{g}^{n}$$
(6.77)

This equation is solved in each time step. For obtaining C^n and C^{n-1} , we use the equation (6.74).

6.2.3 Digital filter based technique

The relation between E and D for 1-D problem in the frequency domain is given by

$$D(\omega) = \varepsilon_0 \hat{\varepsilon}_r(\omega) E(\omega)$$
(6.78)

where

$$\hat{\varepsilon}_{r} = \varepsilon_{\infty} + \frac{\left(\varepsilon_{s} - \varepsilon_{\infty}\right)}{1 + j\omega\tau} = \varepsilon_{\infty} + \chi\left(\omega\right)$$
(6.79)

Without the loss of generality, we can rewrite the first part of the equation (6.13) into

$$\int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial^2 D}{\partial t^2} dz = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_\infty \int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial^2 E}{\partial t^2} dz + \varepsilon_0 \int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial^2 D_x}{\partial t^2} dz$$
(6.80)

because the first term on the right-hand side in (6.79) is frequency-independent .

The expression for D_{γ} in the frequency domain is

$$D(\omega) = \chi(\omega)E(\omega) \tag{6.81}$$

For the approximation of \mathbf{E} we use the same expression as in (6.14):

$$D_{\chi}(x,t) = \sum_{i=0}^{M} W_i(z) d_{\chi i}(t)$$
(6.41)

The equation (6.15) is of the form now

$$\mathbf{T}\frac{\partial^2 e}{\partial t^2} + \left(\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B}\right)\frac{\partial e}{\partial t} + \mathbf{S}e + \mathbf{T}^d \frac{\partial^2 d_{\chi}}{\partial t^2} + \mathbf{g} = 0$$
(6.82)

where

$$T_{ij} = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_\infty \int_a^b W_i W_j dz$$
 (6.83)

$$T_{ij}^{d} = \varepsilon_0 \int_{a}^{b} W_i W_j dz$$
(6.84)

In the case of the 3-D problem, the first part in the equation (6.32) becomes

$$\iiint\limits_{V} \mathbf{W} \cdot \left(\frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{D}}{\partial t^{2}}\right) dV = \varepsilon_{0} \varepsilon_{\infty} \iiint\limits_{V} \mathbf{W} \cdot \left(\frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{E}}{\partial t^{2}}\right) dV + \varepsilon_{0} \iiint\limits_{V} \mathbf{W} \cdot \frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{D}_{\chi}}{\partial t^{2}} dV$$
(6.85)

The equation (6.34) is now of the same form as (6.82). Only matrices **T** and \mathbf{T}^d are defined as follows:

$$T_{ij} = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_\infty \iiint_V \mathbf{W}_i \cdot \mathbf{W}_j dV$$
(6.86)

$$T_{ij}^{c} = \varepsilon_{0} \iiint_{V} \mathbf{W}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{W}_{j} dV$$
(6.87)

Now, we have the system of ordinary differential equations (6.64) which can be solved by an appropriate time scheme.

Applying the two-step algorithm described in the Chapter 4.4, we obtain from (6.82) the system

$$\mathbf{T}\left(\frac{e^{n+1}-2e^{n}+e^{n-1}}{\Delta t^{2}}\right) + (\mathbf{Q}+\mathbf{B})\left(\frac{e^{n+1}-e^{n-1}}{2\Delta t}\right) + \mathbf{S}\left(\frac{e^{n}+2e^{n}+e^{n}}{4}\right) + \mathbf{T}^{d}\left(\frac{d_{\chi}^{n+1}-2d_{\chi}^{n}+d_{\chi}^{n-1}}{\Delta t^{2}}\right) + \mathbf{g}^{n} = 0$$
(6.88)

As mentioned in the Chapter 5.7.1, we use the expression

$$d_{\chi}^{n+1} = -\frac{C1}{C2}d_{\chi}^{n} + \frac{\Delta\varepsilon}{C1}e^{n+1} + \frac{\Delta\varepsilon}{C1}e^{n}$$
(6.89)

where

$$C_1 = 1 + \frac{2\tau}{\Delta t} \tag{6.90}$$

$$C_2 = 1 - \frac{2\tau}{\Delta t} \tag{6.91}$$

The equation (6.88) becomes

$$\mathbf{T}\left(\frac{e^{n+1}-2e^{n}+e^{n-1}}{\Delta t^{2}}\right) + \left(\mathbf{Q}+\mathbf{B}\right)\left(\frac{e^{n+1}-e^{n-1}}{2\Delta t}\right) + \mathbf{S}\left(\frac{e^{n}+2e^{n}+e^{n}}{4}\right) + \mathbf{T}^{d}\left(\frac{-\frac{C1}{C2}d_{\chi}^{n}+\frac{\Delta\varepsilon}{C1}e^{n+1}+\frac{\Delta\varepsilon}{C1}e^{n}-2d_{\chi}^{n}+d_{\chi}^{n-1}}{\Delta t^{2}}\right) + \mathbf{g}^{n} = 0$$

$$(6.92)$$

The equation (6.92) can be rewritten into the final system of linear equations

$$\left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T}+\frac{1}{2\Delta t}(\mathbf{Q}+\mathbf{B})+\frac{1}{4}\mathbf{S}+\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\frac{\Delta \varepsilon}{C1}\mathbf{T}^{d}\right)e^{n+1} = -\left(\frac{-2}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T}+\frac{1}{2}\mathbf{S}+\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\frac{\Delta \varepsilon}{C1}\mathbf{T}^{d}\right)e^{n}$$

$$-\left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T}-\frac{1}{2\Delta t}(\mathbf{Q}+\mathbf{B})+\frac{1}{4}\mathbf{S}\right)e^{n-1}+\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\left(\frac{C1}{C2}+2\right)\mathbf{T}^{d}d^{n}-\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T}^{d}d^{n-1}-\mathbf{g}^{n}$$
(6.93)

This equation is solved in each time step. In order to obtain d_{χ}^{n} and d_{χ}^{n-1} , we use the equation (6.89).

6.2.4 Comparison and verification of methods

The first two test cases verify the digital filter based technique. As an example test, the value of S_{11} for a dielectric obstacle filling the WR90 waveguide has been calculated. Since the reference values are difficult to obtain in literature, the time domain results have been compared with the results of the frequency domain finite difference analysis.

In the first test, the parameters of the obstacle corresponding to the breast tissue [5] have been chosen, specifically: $\varepsilon_{\infty} = 7.81$, $\Delta \varepsilon = 40.14$, $\tau = 10.62ps$ and $\sigma = 0.71S/m$. The dielectric obstacle was loaded into the WR90 waveguide, which was 6 mm long. The mesh was discretized with the spatial step $\Delta z = 0.3$ mm and the corresponding time step was equal to 0.8 ps. The frequency characteristics are shown in Figure 6.1, together with the reference plot. Good agreement between these two methods is visible.



Fig. 6.1: Frequency response of the reflection coefficient at the input of the waveguide WR90 loaded by the obstacle with parameters of breast tissue. Time domain (red, solid) versus frequency domain (blue, dashed).

As another example test, the value of S_{11} for a dielectric obstacle filling W90 waveguide has been calculated. The parameters of the obstacles are $\varepsilon_{\infty} = 7.81$, $\Delta \varepsilon = 20.14$, $\tau = 1.62$ ps and $\sigma = 0.71$ S/m. Parameters of the obstacle do not correspond to any physical material.

Shorter relaxation time, however, implicitly resulted in smaller losses and finally a smaller reflection. Finally, the resonant characteristics could be obtained. Resonant characteristics are better for validating the algorithm. The results are presented in Figure 6.2. Obviously, a good agreement between the two methods is achieved.



Fig. 6.2: Frequency response of the reflection coefficient at the input of the waveguide loaded by the obstacle with non-physical parameters. Time domain (red, solid) versus frequency domain (blue, dashed).



Fig. 6.3: Time response of the electric field intensity at a depth of 15 mm in the Debye medium.



Fig. 6.4: Time response of the electric field intensity at a depth of 15 mm in the Debye medium: a detail.

In order to verify all the developed methods for the Debye model, we consider the following example inspired by [52]. The medium is defined with the following parameters: $\varepsilon_{\infty} = 1$, $\varepsilon_s = 78.2$, $\tau = 8.1ps$. The excitation pulse is a sine wave with 12 cycles. The frequency of this pulse is 10 GHz. A time trace of the electric field at a depth of 15 mm into Debye medium was recorded. In Figure 6.3, we can see comparison of all three methods, the Digital filter based technique, the Direct Time Integration technique and the Recursive Convolution. Good agreement between these three methods is visible.

In Figure 6.4, a detail of the same result is depicted. Obviously, results from the digital filter technique and the recursive convolution closely copy each other.

6.3 Lorentz model

In this paragraph, we will investigate methods for analysing electromagnetic fields in dispersive media described by the Lorentz model.

6.3.1 Direct Time Integration

The relation between E and D for 1-D problem is given by the expression

$$D = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_\infty E + P \tag{6.94}$$

The first term in the equation (6.13) becomes then

$$\int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial^2 D}{\partial t^2} dz = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_\infty \int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial^2 E}{\partial t^2} dz + \int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial^2 P}{\partial t^2} dz$$
(6.95)

For the approximation of E, we use the same expression as in (6.14). For P, we define

$$P(\mathbf{x},t) = \sum_{i=0}^{M} W_i(x) p_i(t)$$
(6.96)

The equation (6.15) is now of the form:

$$\mathbf{T}\frac{\partial^2 e}{\partial t^2} + (\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B})\frac{\partial e}{\partial t} + \mathbf{S}e + \mathbf{T}^p \frac{\partial^2 p}{\partial t^2} + \mathbf{g} = 0$$
(6.97)

Here, coefficients *e* and *p* are functions of time. New matrices **T** and \mathbf{T}^{p} are defined as follows:

$$T_{ij} = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_\infty \int_a^b W_i W_j dz \tag{6.98}$$

$$T_{ij}^{p} = \int_{a}^{b} W_{i}W_{j}dz$$
(6.99)

In the case of the 3-D problem, the first part in the equation (6.32) becomes

$$\iiint_{V} \mathbf{W} \cdot \left(\frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{D}}{\partial t^{2}}\right) dV = \varepsilon_{0} \varepsilon_{\infty} \iiint_{V} \mathbf{W} \cdot \left(\frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{E}}{\partial t^{2}}\right) dV + \iiint_{V} \mathbf{W} \cdot \frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{P}}{\partial t^{2}} dV$$
(6.100)

For the approximation of \mathbf{E} , we use the same expression as in (6.33). For \mathbf{P} , we define:

$$\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{r},t) = \sum_{i=0}^{M} \mathbf{W}_{i}(\mathbf{r}) p_{i}(t)$$
(6.101)

The equation (6.34) is now of the same form as (6.42). Only the matrices **T** and **T**^p are defined as follows:

$$T_{ij} = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_\infty \iiint_V \mathbf{W}_i \cdot \mathbf{W}_j dV$$
(6.102)

$$T_{ij}^{p} = \iiint_{V} \mathbf{W}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{W}_{j} dV$$
(6.103)

The initial conditions can be defined for 1-D as

$$P(x,0) = 0 \quad \frac{\partial P(x,0)}{\partial t} = 0 \tag{6.104}$$

and for 3-D as

$$\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{r},0) = 0 \quad \frac{\partial \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{r},0)}{\partial t} = 0 \tag{6.105}$$

Now, we can treat the equation (6.97) in the same manner for both the dimensions.

The description of the Lorentz model is given by the differential equation which is of the form:

$$\frac{\partial^2 p}{\partial t^2} + \frac{1}{\tau} \frac{\partial p}{\partial t} + \omega_0^2 p = \varepsilon_0 \left(\varepsilon_s - \varepsilon_\infty \right) \omega_0^2 e \tag{6.106}$$

We need the second derivative of the equation (6.106) because in the equation (6.97), the second derivative of p has to be substituted:

$$\frac{\partial^2 p}{\partial t^2} = -\frac{1}{\tau} \frac{\partial p}{\partial t} - \omega_0^2 p + \varepsilon_0 \left(\varepsilon_s - \varepsilon_\infty\right) \omega_0^2 e \tag{6.107}$$

Substituting (6.107) into the equation (6.97), we obtain:

$$\mathbf{T}\frac{\partial^2 e}{\partial t^2} + \left(\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B}\right)\frac{\partial e}{\partial t} + \left(\mathbf{S} + \mathbf{T}^e\right)e + \mathbf{T}^m\frac{\partial p}{\partial t} + \mathbf{T}^k p + \mathbf{g} = 0$$
(6.108)

where

$$\mathbf{T}^{e} = \varepsilon_{0} \left(\varepsilon_{s} - \varepsilon_{\infty} \right) \omega_{0}^{2} \mathbf{T}^{p}$$
(6.109)

$$\mathbf{T}^{m} = -\frac{1}{\tau} \mathbf{T}^{p} \tag{6.110}$$

$$\mathbf{T}^{k} = -\omega_{0}^{2} \mathbf{T}^{p} \tag{6.111}$$

Now, we have the system of ordinary differential equations (6.108) which can be solved by an appropriate time scheme.

Applying the two-step algorithm described in the Chapter 4.4, we obtain from (6.108) the following system:

$$\mathbf{T}\left(\frac{e^{n+1}-2e^n+e^{n-1}}{\Delta t^2}\right) + \left(\mathbf{Q}+\mathbf{B}\right)\left(\frac{e^{n+1}-e^{n-1}}{2\Delta t}\right) + \left(\mathbf{S}+\mathbf{T}^e\right)\left(\frac{e^{n+1}+2e^n+e^{n-1}}{4}\right) + \mathbf{T}^m\left(\frac{p^{n+1}-p^{n-1}}{2\Delta t}\right) + \mathbf{T}^k p^n + \mathbf{g}^n = 0$$
(6.112)

From (6.112), we can obtain

$$\left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} + \frac{1}{2\Delta t}(\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B}) + \frac{1}{4}(\mathbf{S} + \mathbf{T}^{e})\right)e^{n+1} = -\left(\frac{-2}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} + \frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{S} + \mathbf{T}^{e})\right)e^{n}$$
$$-\left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} - \frac{1}{2\Delta t}(\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B}) + \frac{1}{4}(\mathbf{S} + \mathbf{T}^{e})\right)e^{n-1}$$
$$-\frac{1}{2\Delta t}\mathbf{T}^{m}p^{n+1} + \frac{1}{2\Delta t}\mathbf{T}^{m}p^{n-1} - \mathbf{T}^{k}p^{n} - \mathbf{g}^{n}$$
(6.113)

The equation (6.113) has two variables for the time step n+1. We substitute the coefficient p^{n+1} into (6.113) with the following expression. We use the difference method on the expression (6.106):

$$\frac{p^{n+1} - 2p^n + p^{n-1}}{\Delta t^2} = -\frac{1}{\tau} \frac{p^{n+1} - p^{n-1}}{2\Delta t} - \omega_0^2 p^n + \varepsilon_0 \left(\varepsilon_s - \varepsilon_\infty\right) \omega_0^2 e^n$$
(6.114)

Finally, we obtain from (6.114):

$$\left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}} + \frac{1}{2\Delta t\tau}\right)p^{n+1} = \left[\frac{2}{\Delta t^{2}} - \omega_{0}^{2}\right]p^{n} + \left(-\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}} + \frac{1}{2\Delta t\tau}\right)p^{n-1} + \varepsilon_{0}\left(\varepsilon_{s} - \varepsilon_{\infty}\right)\omega_{0}^{2}e^{n}$$
(6.115)

The final system of linear equations is of the form:

$$\left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} + \frac{1}{2\Delta t}(\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B}) + \frac{1}{4}(\mathbf{S} + \mathbf{T}^{e})\right)e^{n+1} = -\left(\frac{-2}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} + \frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{S} + \mathbf{T}^{e}) - \frac{C_{3}}{2\Delta t}\mathbf{T}^{m}\right)e^{n} - \left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} - \frac{1}{2\Delta t}(\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B}) + \frac{1}{4}(\mathbf{S} + \mathbf{T}^{e})\right)e^{n-1} + \left(\frac{1}{2\Delta t}\mathbf{T}^{m} - \frac{C_{2}}{2\Delta t}\mathbf{T}^{m}\right)p^{n-1} + \left(-\mathbf{T}^{k} - \frac{C_{1}}{2\Delta t}\mathbf{T}^{m}\right)p^{n} - \mathbf{g}^{n}$$

$$(6.116)$$

where

$$C_{1} = \frac{\left[\frac{2}{\Delta t^{2}} - \omega_{0}^{2}\right]}{\left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}} + \frac{1}{2\Delta t\tau}\right)} \quad C_{2} = \frac{\left(-\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}} + \frac{1}{2\Delta t\tau}\right)}{\left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}} + \frac{1}{2\Delta t\tau}\right)} \quad C_{3} = \frac{\varepsilon_{0}\left(\varepsilon_{s} - \varepsilon_{\infty}\right)\omega_{0}^{2}}{\left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}} + \frac{1}{2\Delta t\tau}\right)}$$
(6.117)

The equation (6.116) is solved in each time step. For solving p^n , we use the equation (6.115).

6.3.2 Digital filter based technique

The relation between E and D for 1-D problem in the frequency domain is given by

$$D(\omega) = \varepsilon_0 \hat{\varepsilon}_r(\omega) E(\omega) \tag{6.118}$$

where

$$\hat{\varepsilon}_{r} = \varepsilon_{\infty} + \frac{\left(\varepsilon_{s} - \varepsilon_{\infty}\right)\omega_{0}^{2}}{\omega_{0}^{2} + j\omega\delta - \omega^{2}} = \varepsilon_{\infty} + \chi\left(\omega\right)$$
(6.119)

Without the loss of generality, we can rewrite the first part of the equation (6.13) into (6.120) because the first term on the right-hand side in (6.119) does not depend on frequency:

$$\int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial^2 D}{\partial t^2} dz = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_\infty \int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial^2 E}{\partial t^2} dz + \varepsilon_0 \int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial^2 D_\chi}{\partial t^2} dz$$
(6.120)

The expression for D_{χ} in the frequency domain is

$$D(\omega) = \chi(\omega)E(\omega) \tag{6.121}$$

For the approximation of **E**, we use the same expression as in (6.14). For D_{χ} , we define:

$$D_{\chi}(x,t) = \sum_{i=0}^{M} W_{i}(x) d_{\chi i}(t)$$
 (6.122)

The equation (6.15) is of the form now

$$\mathbf{T}\frac{\partial^2 e}{\partial t^2} + (\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B})\frac{\partial e}{\partial t} + \mathbf{S}e + \mathbf{T}^d \frac{\partial^2 d_{\chi}}{\partial t^2} + \mathbf{g} = 0$$
(6.123)

where

$$T_{ij} = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_\infty \int_a^b W_i W_j dz$$
 (6. 124)

$$T_{ij}^{d} = \varepsilon_0 \int_{a}^{b} W_i W_j dz$$
(6. 125)

In the case of the 3-D problem, the first part in the equation (6.32) becomes

$$\iiint_{V} \mathbf{W} \cdot \left(\frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{D}}{\partial t^{2}}\right) dV = \varepsilon_{0} \varepsilon_{\infty} \iiint_{V} \mathbf{W} \cdot \left(\frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{E}}{\partial t^{2}}\right) dV + \varepsilon_{0} \iiint_{V} \mathbf{W} \cdot \frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{D}_{\chi}}{\partial t^{2}} dV \qquad (6.\ 126)$$

The equation (6.34) is now of the same form as (6.82). Only the matrices **T** and \mathbf{T}^d are defined as

$$T_{ij} = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_\infty \iiint_V \mathbf{W}_i \cdot \mathbf{W}_j dV$$
(6. 127)

$$T_{ij}^{c} = \varepsilon_{0} \iiint_{V} \mathbf{W}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{W}_{j} dV$$
(6. 128)

Now, we have the system of ordinary differential equations (6.64) which can be solved by an appropriate time scheme.

Applying the two-step algorithm described in the Chapter 4.4, we obtain from (6.82) the system

$$\mathbf{T}\left(\frac{e^{n+1}-2e^{n}+e^{n-1}}{\Delta t^{2}}\right) + (\mathbf{Q}+\mathbf{B})\left(\frac{e^{n+1}-e^{n-1}}{2\Delta t}\right) + \mathbf{S}\left(\frac{e^{n}+2e^{n}+e^{n}}{4}\right) + \mathbf{T}^{d}\left(\frac{d_{\chi}^{n+1}-2d_{\chi}^{n}+d_{\chi}^{n-1}}{\Delta t^{2}}\right) + \mathbf{g}^{n} = 0$$
(6. 129)

As mentioned in the Chapter 5.7.2, we use the expression

$$d_{\chi}^{n+1} = -\frac{C_2}{C_1} d_{\chi}^n - \frac{C_3}{C_1} d_{\chi}^{n-1} + \frac{\Delta \varepsilon \omega_0^2}{C_1} e^{n+1} + \frac{2\Delta \varepsilon \omega_0^2}{C_1} e^n + \frac{\Delta \varepsilon \omega_0^2}{C_1} e^{n-1}$$
(6.130)

where

$$C_1 = \omega_0^2 + \frac{2}{\Delta t}\delta + \frac{4}{\Delta t^2}$$
(6.131)

$$C_2 = 2\omega_0^2 - \frac{8}{\Delta t^2} \tag{6.132}$$

$$C_3 = \omega_0^2 - \frac{2}{\Delta t}\delta + \frac{4}{\Delta t^2}$$
(6.133)

The equation (6.129) can be rewritten into the final system of linear equations after using the substitution (6.130):

$$\left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} + \frac{1}{2\Delta t}(\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B}) + \frac{1}{4}\mathbf{S} + \frac{\Delta\varepsilon\omega_{0}^{2}}{\Delta t^{2}C_{1}}\mathbf{T}^{d}\right)e^{n+1} = -\left(\frac{-2}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} + \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{S} + \frac{2\Delta\varepsilon\omega_{0}^{2}}{\Delta t^{2}C_{1}}\mathbf{T}^{d}\right)e^{n} - \left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} - \frac{1}{2\Delta t}(\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B}) + \frac{1}{4}\mathbf{S} + \frac{\Delta\varepsilon\omega_{0}^{2}}{\Delta t^{2}C_{1}}\mathbf{T}^{d}\right)e^{n-1} + \left(\frac{C_{2}}{C_{1}} + 2\right)\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T}^{d}d_{\chi}^{n} - \left(1 - \frac{C_{3}}{C_{1}}\right)\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T}^{d}d_{\chi}^{n-1} - \mathbf{g}^{n}$$

$$(6.134)$$

This equation is solved in each time step. For obtaining d_{χ}^{n} and d_{χ}^{n-1} , we use the equation (6.130).

6.3.3 Comparison and verification of methods

In order to verify our methods for the Lorentz model, we consider a problem including the following medium with parameters $\varepsilon_s = 2.25$, $\varepsilon_{\infty} = 1.0$, $\delta = 5.599 \times 10^{15}$ rad/s and $\omega_0 = 4 \times 10^{16}$ [52]. The medium is irradiated from vacuum by 12 cycles of a sine wave with the carrier frequency at 1.5 PHz. A time trace of the electric field at a depth of 0.01 mm was recorded. We compare both two developed methods. We investigated the Direct Time Integration technique and the method based on digital filtering. Figure 6.5 shows results from both methods. Obviously, the calculated results agree very well with each other.

In another simulation, we consider a metallic sphere coated with the Lorentz medium with parameters $\varepsilon_s = 4.0$, $\varepsilon_{\infty} = 1.0$, $\omega_0 = 2\delta = 50$ Mrad/s. The metallic sphere has a radius of 0.8 m and the coating has a thickness of 0.2 m [48]. Figure 6.6 shows results for the electric field as a function of time. The results of the Direct Time Integration technique and the method based on digital filtering are compared with the exact solution from [48]. Good agreement between these three methods is visible.



Fig. 6.5: Time response of the electric field intensity at the depth of 0.01 mm in the Lorentz model of the dispersive medium irradiated from free space.



Fig. 6.6: Time response of the electric field intensity in a Lorentz model of the dispersive coat of a metallic sphere irradiated from free space.

6.4 Drude model

In this paragraph, we investigate methods for the analysis of electromagnetic waves in a dispersive medium described by the Drude model.

6.4.1 Direct Time Integration

The relation between *E* and *D* for 1-D problem is given by the expression:

$$D = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_\infty E + P \tag{6.135}$$

The first part in the equation (6.13) then becomes

$$\int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial^2 D}{\partial t^2} dz = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_\infty \int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial^2 E}{\partial t^2} dz + \int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial^2 P}{\partial t^2} dz$$
(6.136)

For the approximation of E, we use the same expression as in (6.14). For P, we define:

$$P(x,t) = \sum_{i=0}^{M} W_i(x) p_i(t)$$
(6.137)

The equation (6.15) is now of the form

$$\mathbf{T}\frac{\partial^2 e}{\partial t^2} + (\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B})\frac{\partial e}{\partial t} + \mathbf{S}e + \mathbf{T}^p \frac{\partial^2 p}{\partial t^2} + \mathbf{g} = 0$$
(6.138)

Here, coefficients e and p are functions of time. New matrices **T** and **T**^p are defined as

$$T_{ij} = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_\infty \int_a^b W_i W_j dz$$
 (6. 139)

$$T_{ij}^{p} = \int_{a}^{b} W_{i}W_{j}dz$$
 (6. 140)

In the case of the 3-D problem, the first part in the equation (6.32) becomes

$$\iiint_{V} \mathbf{W} \cdot \left(\frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{D}}{\partial t^{2}}\right) dV = \varepsilon_{0} \varepsilon_{\infty} \iiint_{V} \mathbf{W} \cdot \left(\frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{E}}{\partial t^{2}}\right) dV + \iiint_{V} \mathbf{W} \cdot \frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{P}}{\partial t^{2}} dV$$
(6.141)

For the approximation of **E**, we use the same expression as in (6.33). For **P**, we define:

$$\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{r},t) = \sum_{i=0}^{M} \mathbf{W}_{i}(\mathbf{r}) p_{i}(t)$$
(6.142)

The equation (6.34) is now of the same form as (6.138). Only matrices **T** and \mathbf{T}^{p} are defined as

$$T_{ij} = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_\infty \iiint_V \mathbf{W}_i \cdot \mathbf{W}_j dV$$
(6.143)

$$T_{ij}^{p} = \iiint_{V} \mathbf{W}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{W}_{j} dV$$
(6.144)

The initial conditions can be defined for 1-D as

$$P(x,0) = 0 \quad \frac{\partial P(x,0)}{\partial t} = 0 \tag{6.145}$$

and for 3-D as

$$\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{r},0) = 0 \quad \frac{\partial \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{r},0)}{\partial t} = 0 \tag{6.146}$$

Now we can treat the equation (6.138) in the same manner for both dimensions.

The description of the Drude model is given by the differential equation which is of the form:

$$\frac{\partial^2 p}{\partial t^2} + \frac{1}{\tau} \frac{\partial p}{\partial t} = \varepsilon_0 \omega_p^2 e \tag{6.147}$$

We need the second derivative of the equation (6.106) since the equation (6.138) contains the second derivative of p:

$$\frac{\partial^2 p}{\partial t^2} = -\frac{1}{\tau} \frac{\partial p}{\partial t} + \varepsilon_0 \omega_p^2 e \tag{6.148}$$

After substitution of (6.148) into the equation (6.138), we obtain:

$$\mathbf{T}\frac{\partial^2 e}{\partial t^2} + \left(\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B}\right)\frac{\partial e}{\partial t} + \left(\mathbf{S} + \mathbf{T}^e\right)e + \mathbf{T}^m\frac{\partial p}{\partial t} + \mathbf{g} = 0$$
(6.149)

where

$$\mathbf{T}^e = \varepsilon_0 \omega_0^2 \mathbf{T}^p \tag{6.150}$$

$$\mathbf{T}^m = -\frac{1}{\tau} \mathbf{T}^p \tag{6.151}$$

Now, we have the system of ordinary differential equations (6.149) which can be solved by an appropriate time scheme.

Applying the two-step algorithm described in the Chapter 4.4, we obtain from (6.149) the system

$$\mathbf{T}\left(\frac{e^{n+1}-2e^{n}+e^{n-1}}{\Delta t^{2}}\right) + (\mathbf{Q}+\mathbf{B})\left(\frac{e^{n+1}-e^{n-1}}{2\Delta t}\right) + (\mathbf{S}+\mathbf{T}^{e})\left(\frac{e^{n+1}+2e^{n}+e^{n-1}}{4}\right) + \mathbf{T}^{m}\left(\frac{p^{n+1}-p^{n-1}}{2\Delta t}\right) + \mathbf{g}^{n} = 0$$
(6.152)

From (6.152), we can obtain

$$\left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} + \frac{1}{2\Delta t}(\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B}) + \frac{1}{4}(\mathbf{S} + \mathbf{T}^{e})\right)e^{n+1} = -\left(\frac{-2}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} + \frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{S} + \mathbf{T}^{e})\right)e^{n}$$
$$-\left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} - \frac{1}{2\Delta t}(\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B}) + \frac{1}{4}(\mathbf{S} + \mathbf{T}^{e})\right)e^{n-1}$$
$$-\frac{1}{2\Delta t}\mathbf{T}^{m}p^{n+1} + \frac{1}{2\Delta t}\mathbf{T}^{m}p^{n-1} - \mathbf{g}^{n}$$
(6.153)

The equation (6.153) has two variables for the time step n+1. We substitute the coefficient p^{n+1} into (6.153) with the following expression. We apply the difference method on the expression (6.148):

$$\frac{p^{n+1} - 2p^n + p^{n-1}}{\Delta t^2} = -\frac{1}{\tau} \frac{p^{n+1} - p^{n-1}}{2\Delta t} + \omega_0^2 e^n$$
(6.154)

We obtain from (6.154)

$$\left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}} + \frac{1}{2\Delta t\tau}\right)p^{n+1} = \frac{2}{\Delta t^{2}}p^{n} + \left(-\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}} + \frac{1}{2\Delta t\tau}\right)p^{n-1} + \omega_{0}^{2}e^{n}$$
(6.155)

The final system of linear equations is of the form

$$\left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} + \frac{1}{2\Delta t}(\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B}) + \frac{1}{4}(\mathbf{S} + \mathbf{T}^{e})\right)e^{n+1} = -\left(\frac{-2}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} + \frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{S} + \mathbf{T}^{e}) - \frac{C_{3}}{2\Delta t}\mathbf{T}^{m}\right)e^{n} - \left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} - \frac{1}{2\Delta t}(\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B}) + \frac{1}{4}(\mathbf{S} + \mathbf{T}^{e})\right)e^{n-1} + \left(\frac{1}{2\Delta t}\mathbf{T}^{m} - \frac{C_{2}}{2\Delta t}\mathbf{T}^{m}\right)p^{n-1} - \frac{C_{1}}{2\Delta t}\mathbf{T}^{m}p^{n} - \mathbf{g}^{n}$$

$$(6.156)$$

where

$$C_{1} = \frac{\frac{2}{\Delta t^{2}}}{\left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}} + \frac{1}{2\Delta t\tau}\right)} \quad C_{2} = \frac{\left(-\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}} + \frac{1}{2\Delta t\tau}\right)}{\left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}} + \frac{1}{2\Delta t\tau}\right)} \quad C_{3} = \frac{\omega_{0}^{2}}{\left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}} + \frac{1}{2\Delta t\tau}\right)} \tag{6.157}$$

This equation (6.156) is solved in each time step. For solving p^n , we use the equation (6.155).

6.4.2 Digital filter based technique

The relation between E and D for 1-D problem in the frequency domain is given by

$$D(\omega) = \varepsilon_0 \hat{\varepsilon}_r(\omega) E(\omega) \tag{6.158}$$

where

$$\hat{\varepsilon}_{r} = \varepsilon_{\infty} + \frac{\omega_{p}^{2}}{j\omega\delta - \omega^{2}} = \varepsilon_{\infty} + \chi(\omega)$$
(6.159)

Without losing the generality, we can rewrite the first part of the equation (6.13) into (6.160) because the first term on the right-hand side in (6.159) does not depend on frequency:

$$\int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial^2 D}{\partial t^2} dz = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_\infty \int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial^2 E}{\partial t^2} dz + \varepsilon_0 \int_{a}^{b} W \frac{\partial^2 D_\chi}{\partial t^2} dz$$
(6.160)

The expression for D_{χ} in the frequency domain is

$$D(\omega) = \chi(\omega)E(\omega)$$
(6.161)

Approximating *E*, we use the same expression as in (6.14). For D_{χ} , we define:

$$D_{\chi}(x,t) = \sum_{i=0}^{M} W_i(x) d_{\chi i}(t)$$
 (6. 162)

The equation (6.15) is now of the form

$$\mathbf{T}\frac{\partial^2 e}{\partial t^2} + (\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B})\frac{\partial e}{\partial t} + \mathbf{S}e + \mathbf{T}^d \frac{\partial^2 d_{\chi}}{\partial t^2} + \mathbf{g} = 0$$
(6.163)

where

$$T_{ij} = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_\infty \int_a^b W_i W_j dz$$
 (6. 164)

$$T_{ij}^{d} = \varepsilon_0 \int_{a}^{b} W_i W_j dz$$
(6. 165)

In the case of the 3-D problem, the first part in the equation (6.32) becomes

$$\iiint_{V} \mathbf{W} \cdot \left(\frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{D}}{\partial t^{2}}\right) dV = \varepsilon_{0} \varepsilon_{\infty} \iiint_{V} \mathbf{W} \cdot \left(\frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{E}}{\partial t^{2}}\right) dV + \varepsilon_{0} \iiint_{V} \mathbf{W} \cdot \frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{D}_{\chi}}{\partial t^{2}} dV \qquad (6.166)$$

The equation (6.34) is now of the same form as (6.163). Only matrices \mathbf{T} and \mathbf{T}^d are defined as

$$T_{ij} = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_\infty \iiint_V \mathbf{W}_i \cdot \mathbf{W}_j dV$$
 (6. 167)

$$T_{ij}^c = \varepsilon_0 \iiint_V \mathbf{W}_i \cdot \mathbf{W}_j dV$$
(6. 168)

Now we have the system of ordinary differential equations (6.163) which can be solved by an appropriate time scheme.

Applying the two-step algorithm described in the Chapter 4.4, we obtain from (6.163) the system

$$\mathbf{T}\left(\frac{e^{n+1}-2e^{n}+e^{n-1}}{\Delta t^{2}}\right) + (\mathbf{Q}+\mathbf{B})\left(\frac{e^{n+1}-e^{n-1}}{2\Delta t}\right) + \mathbf{S}\left(\frac{e^{n}+2e^{n}+e^{n}}{4}\right) + \mathbf{T}^{d}\left(\frac{d_{\chi}^{n+1}-2d_{\chi}^{n}+d_{\chi}^{n-1}}{\Delta t^{2}}\right) + \mathbf{g}^{n} = 0$$
(6. 169)

As mentioned in the Chapter 5.7.3, we use the expression

$$d_{\chi}^{n+1} = -\frac{C_2}{C_1} d_{\chi}^n - \frac{C_3}{C_1} d_{\chi}^{n-1} + \frac{\omega_p^2}{C_1} e^{n+1} + \frac{2\omega_p^2}{C_1} e^n + \frac{\omega_p^2}{C_1} e^{n-1}$$
(6.170)

where

$$C_1 = \frac{2}{\Delta t}\delta + \frac{4}{\Delta t^2} \tag{6. 171}$$

$$C_2 = -\frac{8}{\Delta t^2} \tag{6. 172}$$

$$C_3 = -\frac{2}{\Delta t}\delta + \frac{4}{\Delta t^2} \tag{6. 173}$$

The equation (6.169) can be rewritten into the final system of linear equations after using the substitution (6.170)

$$\left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} + \frac{1}{2\Delta t}(\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B}) + \frac{1}{4}\mathbf{S} + \frac{\omega_{p}^{2}}{\Delta t^{2}C_{1}}\mathbf{T}^{d}\right)e^{n+1} = -\left(\frac{-2}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} + \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{S} + \frac{2\omega_{p}^{2}}{\Delta t^{2}C_{1}}\mathbf{T}^{d}\right)e^{n} - \left(\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T} - \frac{1}{2\Delta t}(\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{B}) + \frac{1}{4}\mathbf{S} + \frac{\omega_{p}^{2}}{\Delta t^{2}C_{1}}\mathbf{T}^{d}\right)e^{n-1} + \left(\frac{C_{2}}{C_{1}} + 2\right)\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T}^{d}d_{\chi}^{n} - \left(1 - \frac{C_{3}}{C_{1}}\right)\frac{1}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{T}^{d}d_{\chi}^{n-1} - \mathbf{g}^{n}$$

$$(6.174)$$

This equation is solved in each time step. For obtaining d_{χ}^{n} and d_{χ}^{n-1} , we use the equation (6.170).

6.4.3 Comparison of methods

In order to verify the developed methods for the Drude model, we consider an example described in [48]. The model has a metallic sphere coated with the layer of following parameters $\omega_p = \delta = 50$ Mrad/s. The metallic sphere has a radius of 0.8 m and the coating has a thickness of 0.2 m. This coated sphere is illuminated by an *x*-polarized incident plane wave propagating along the *z*-direction. The results of the Direct Time Integration technique and the Digital filter technique are compared with the exact solution [48]. Figure 6.7 shows the comparison of results. A good agreement between the developed methods and methods from the referenced paper is visible.



Fig. 6.7: Time response of the electric field intensity in the Drude model of the dispersive coating of the metallic sphere illuminated in the free space.

6.5 Conclusion

We employed finite element time domain method for solving initial-boundary value problems including dispersive models. We investigated all methods proposed in Chapter 5. Since the Debye model is the simplest dispersive model, we analyzed electromagnetic fields in this model with all the methods. For the Lorentz model and the Drude model, we employed Direct time integration technique and Digital filter based method. The obtained results verify the ability of these developed and improved methods. These methods are suitable to be employed for solving electromagnetic problems. Another improvement of these methods is possible.

The new method based on the digital filtering seems to work perfectly. Investigation of the behavior with a higher order of time approximation can improve results. The methods can be used for the solution of other dispersive models or multipole problems.

A possible method for analyzing fields in dispersive media can be created by the combination of transformation techniques and the generalized two-step method. Inverse problems including a dispersive material with the combination of optimization techniques can be investigated.

Other recommendation is dealing with an anisotropic material and a dispersive medium. The developed method based on the digital filtering can be used for employing Perfectly Matched Layer (PML) into the FETD method due to dispersive layers.

7 CONCLUSIONS

In the thesis, we developed and improved methods for analyzing electromagnetic field in dispersive media by the finite element time domain method (FETD).

We briefly introduced the project HIRF-SE and the tool BUTFE which gave us the motivation for analyzing fields in dispersive models by FETD method since this issue has not been sufficiently investigated yet.

We developed an approach for the FETD method which is suitable for employing dispersive models for analyzing fields in dispersive media. We introduced a general two-step approach for the time scheme and compared the most appropriate schemes for FETD. We published the results of this comparison at the conference [68].

In the main part, we described three methods for solving fields in dispersive models such as the Debye model, the Lorentz model and the Drude model. The first method of field analysis in Debye dispersive environments is based on the *Recursive convolution*. The second method of the field analysis for all three models in dispersive environments is based on the *Direct Time Integration* technique. A novel approach which exploits principles of digital filtering techniques was presented. This method was published at the conference [81].

We employed the finite element time domain method for solving initial-boundary value problems including dispersive models. We developed mathematical models for 1-D and 3-D problems. We employed all proposed methods on these models and described in detail to the way of analysis. The obtained results verified the functionality of these developed and improved methods. These methods are suitable to be employed for solving electromagnetic problems. We described the approach for dealing with this problem for our newly developed method in article [84]. We compared all the methods and discussed the results. Another improvement of these methods was discussed.

REFERENCES

- [1] JIN, J.M. *The Finite Element Method in Electromagnetics*. 1st ed. New York: John Wiley & Sons. 1993. ISBN 0-471-58627-7.
- [2] LEE, J.F. The Maturity of Computational Electromagnetics: Are We There Yet? In *Proceedings of the European Conference on Antennas and Propagation, EuCAP 2011* Convened Papers. pp. 3011 3014.
- [3] VOLAKIS, J.L., CHATTERJEE, A., KEMPEL, L.C. Finite Element Method for Electromagnetics: Antennas, Microwave Circuits and Scattering Applications. Blackwell, Wiley – IEEE press, 1998.
- [4] JIN, J.M., RILEY, D.J. *Finite Element Analysis of Antennas and Arrays*. New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons. 2009.
- [5] TEIXEIRA, F.L. Time-Domain Finite-Difference and Finite-Element Methods for Maxwell Equations in Complex Media. IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation. Vol. 56, no. 8, august 2008.
- [6] BRUNS, H. D., SCHUSTER, C., SINGER, H. Numerical Electromagnetic Field Analysis for EMC Problems. *IEEE Transactions on Electromagnetic Compatibility*, Vol. 49, No. 2, pp. 253 – 262, 2007.
- [7] HIRF SE High Intensity Radiated Field Synthetic Environment [online]. 2008 [cit. 2012-04-11]. Available at WWW: http://www.hirf-se.eu>.
- [8] ŠEDĚNKA, V. Numerical solutions of EMC problems of small airplanes: doctoral thesis. Brno: Brno University, Faculty of Electrical Engineering and Communication, Department of Radio Electronics, 2013. 86 p. Supervised by prof. Dr Ing. Zbyněk Raida.
- [9] ŠEDĚNKA, V., CIGÁNEK, J., KADLEC, P., RAIDA, Z., WIKTOR, M., SARTO, M.S., GRECO, S. Time-Domain Finite Elements for Virtual Testing of Electromagnetic Compatibility. *Radioengineering*. 2013, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 309-317.
- [10] RAO, S.S. *The Finite Element Method in Engineering*. Butterworth-Heinemann, Fifth Edition. 2010.
- [11] REKTORYS, K. Variační metody v inženýrských problémech a v problémech matematické fyziky. ACADEMIA PRAHA 1999. ISBN 80-200-0714-8.
- [12] COURANT, R. Variational methods for the solution of problems of equilibrium and vibrations. *Bulletin of the American Mathematical Society* 1943, vol. 49, pp. 1-23.
- [13] MICHLIN, S.G. Variačné matódy v matematickej fyzike. ALFA BRATISLAVA 1974. ISBN 63-063-7.
- [14] BLADER, J.V. Electromagnetic Field. The IEEE Press Series on Electromagnetic Wave Theory, 2nd edition, 2007.
- [15] SADIKU, M.N.O. Numerical Techniques in Electromagnetics. CRC PRESS 2001. ISBN 0-8493-1395-3.
- [16] POLYCARPOU, A.C. Introduction to the Finite Element Method in Electromagnetics. 2006.
- [17] SILVESTER, P.P., FERRARI, R.L. *Finite element for Electrical Engineers*. CAMBRIDGE UNIVERSITY PRESS 1996. ISBN 0-521-44505-1.

- [18] DAVIDSON, D.B. Computational Electromagnetics for RF and Microwave Engineering. CAMBRIDGE UNIVERSITY PRESS 2005. ISBN-13 978-0-511-41425-1.
- [19] ZAGLMAYR, S. High Order Finite Element Methods for Electromagnetic Field Computation: Doctoral thesis. Johannes Kepler Universitat Linz. July 2006.
- [20] JIN, J.M. *The Finite Element Method in Electromagnetics*. 2nd ed. New York: John Wiley & Sons. 2002. ISBN 0-471-43818-9.
- [21] ZHANG, Q., BANERJEE, U., BABUŠKA, I. Higher Order Stable Generalized Finite Element Method. *Numerishe Mathematic*. 2013.
- [22] TSAI, H.P., WANG, Y., ITOH, T. An unconditionally stable extended (USE) finiteelement time-domain solution of active nonlinear microwave circuits using perfectly matched layers. *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*. Oct. 2002, vol. 50, no. 10, pp. 2226-2232.
- [23] ECKARD, C.W. Advantages and Disadvantages of FEM Analysis in an Early State of the Design Process. *Creative Engineering Services*. CES Eckard GmbH.
- [24] LEE, J.F., LEE, R., CARNGELLARIS, A.C., Time Domain Finite Element Methods. *IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag.* Vol. 45, pp. 430 442, 1997.
- [25] NEWMARK, N.M. A Method of Computation for Structural Dynamics. *Journal of the engineering Mechanics Division*, July 1959.
- [26] WOOD, W.L. Practical Time-stepping Schemes. CLARENDON PRESS OXFORD 1990. ISBN 0-19-859677-4.
- [27] ZIENKIEWICZ, O.C. A New Look at the Newmark, Houbolt and Other Time Stepping Formulas. A Weighted Residual Approach. Earthquake Engineering and Structural Dynamics, VOL. 5, 413-418, 1977.
- [28] JIN, J.M. Total-and Scattered-field decomposition technique for finite-element timedomain method. IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation, vol. 54, no. 1, January 2006.
- [29] MUR, G. Absorbing Boundary Conditions for the Finite-Difference Approximation of the Time-Domain Electromagnetic-Field Equations. *IEEE Transactions on Electromagnetic Compatibility*, vol. 23, no. 4, November 1981.
- [30] MUR, G. Total-Field Absorbing Boundary Conditions for the Time-Domain Electromagnetic Field Equations. *IEEE Transactions on Electromagnetic Compatibility*, vol. 40, no. 2, May 1998.
- [31] JIAO, D., JIN, J. A General Approach for the Stability Analysis of the Time-Domain Finite-Element Method for Electromagnetic Simulation. *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, VOL. 50, NO. 11, NOVEMBER 2002.
- [32] GRIFFITH, B.E., LUO, X. Hybrid finite difference/finite element version of the immersed boundary method. *International Journal for Numerical Methods in Engineering*. Wiley UnterScience.
- [33] GADNEY, S.D., KRAMER, T., RODEN, J.A. The Discontinuous Galerkin Finite Element Time Domain Method (DGFETD). Presented at *IEEE International Symposium on Electromagnetic Compatibility*, Honolulu, HI, 2008.
- [34] BUI, M.D., STUCHLY, S.S., COSTACHE, G.I. Propagation of Transients in Dispersive Dielectric Media. *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 39, no. 7, July 1991.
- [35] MARTINAZZO, R. Electromagnetic Field in Dispersive Media. [online]. [cit. 2014-04-

11].AvailableatWWW:<http://users.unimi.it/cdtg/index.php?page=members&personale=martinazzo>.

- [36] HAYT, W.H., BUCK, J.A. *Engineering Electromagnetics*. McGraw-Hill, 7th edition. 2009.
- [37] RIKTE, S. One-Dimensional Pulse Propagation in Temporally Dispersive Media Exact Solution versus Numerical Results. *Technical Report* LUTEDX/(TEAT/7053)/1/38/(2000), pp. 1/35, 2000.
- [38] BEEZLEY, R.S., KRUEGER, R.J. An Electromagnetic Inverse Problem for Dispersive Media. *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, vol. 26, Issue 2, pp. 317-325, February 1985.
- [39] JACKSON, J.D. Classical Electrodynamics. 3rd edition. John Wiley & Sons. 1999.
- [40] BANKS, H.T., BOKIL, V.A. Parameter Identification for Dispersive Dielectrics Using Pulsed Microwave Interrogating Signals and Acoustic Wave Induced Reflections in Two and Three Dimensions. *Tech. Rep CRSC-TR04-27*, Center for Research in Scientific Computation, North Carolina State University, July 2004.
- [41] KELLEY, D.F., LUEBBERS, R.J. Piecewise Linear Recursive Convolution for Dispersive Media Using FDTD. *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 44, no. 6, June 1996.
- [42] AMMANN, M.W. *Non-Trivial Materials in EM-FDTD*. Diploma thesis, ETH Zurich, Zurich, March 2007.
- [43] KRISTENSSON, G., KARLSSON, A., RITKE, S. Electromagnetic Wave Propagation in Dispersive and Complex Material with Time Domain Techniques. *Technical Report LUTEDX/(TEAT/7086)/1/38/(2000)*, pp. 277/294, May 23, 2001.
- [44] LAZEBNIK, M., OKONIEWSKI, M., BOOSKE, J.H., HAGNESS, S.C. Highly Accurate Debye Models for Normal and Malignant Breast Tissue Dielectric Properties at Microwave Frequencies. *IEEE Microwave and Wireless Components Letters*, vol. 17, no. 12, December 2007.
- [45] SHARBAF, A.A., GIANNACOPOULOS, D.D. Finite-Element Time-Domain Solution of the Vector Wave Equation in Doubly Dispersive Media Using Mobius Transformation Technique. *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 61, no. 8, August 2013.
- [46] YOUNG, J.L., Propagation in Linear Dispersive Media: Finite Difference Time-Domain Methodologies. *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 43, no. 4, April 1995.
- [47] YOUNG, J.L., NELSON, R.O. A Summary and Systematic Analysis of FDTD Algorithms for Linearly Dispersive Media. *IEEE Antennas and Propagation Magazine*, vol. 43, no. 1, February 2001.
- [48] JIAO, D., JIN, J.M. Time-Domain Finite-Element Modeling of Dispersive Media. *IEEE Microwave and Wireless Components Letters*, Vol. 11, No 5, May 2001.
- [49] MARADEI, F. A Frequency-Dependent WETD Formulation for Dispersive Materials. *IEEE Transactions on Magnetics*, Vol. 37, No. 5, September 2001
- [50] STOYKOV, N.S, KUIKEN, T.A., LOWERY, M.M., TAFLOVE, A. Finite-element timedomain algorithms for modeling linear Debye and Lorentz dielectric dispersions at low frequencies. IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. Vol. 50, pp. 1100-1107, 2003.
- [51] JOSEPH, R.M., HAGNESS, S.C., TAFLOVE, A. Direct Time Integration of Maxwell's Equations in Linear Dispersive Media with Absorption for Scattering and Propagation of

Femtosecond Electromagnetic Pulses. Opt. Lett. 16, 1412-1414, 1991.

- [52] BANKS, H.T., BOKIL, V.A., GIBSON, N.L. Analysis of Stability and Dispersion in a Finite Element Method for Debye and Lorentz Dispersive Media. *Numerical Methods for Partial Differential Equations*. Vol. 25, Issue 4, pp. 885-917, July 2009.
- [53] BANKS, H.T., BUKSAS, M.W., LIN, T. *Electromagnetic Material Interrogation Using Conductive Interfaces and Acoustic Wavefronts.* SIAM Frontiers in Applied Mathematics, Philadelphia, 2000.
- [54] EDELVIK, F., STRAND, B. Frequency Dispersive Materials for 3-D Hybrid Solver in Time Domain. *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 51, no. 6, June 2003.
- [55] SHEEN, D.M., ALI, S.M., ABOUZAHRA, M.D., KONG, J.A. Application of the Three-Dimensional Finite Difference Time-Domain Method to the Analysis of Planar Microstrip Circuits. *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 38, no. 7, July 1990.
- [56] CHANG, S.H., COCCIOLI, R., QIAN, Y, ITOH,T,. Global finite-element time-domain analysis of active nonlinear microwave circuits. *IEEE Trans Microwave Theory Tech.*, vol. 47, no. 12, pp. 2410-2416, Dec. 1999.
- [57] LOU, Z., JIN, J.M. An Accurate Waveguide Port Boundary Condition for the Time-Domain Finite-Element Method. *IEEE Transaction on Microwave Theory and Techniques.* Vol. 1, pp. 117-120. 2005.
- [58] CERDA, J.J. *The finite Difference and Finite Element Methods*. Tutorial, ICP, Stuttgart. 2009.
- [59] ZIENKIEWICZ, O.C., TAYLOR, R.L., ZHU, J.Z. *The Finite Element Method: Its Basis and Fundamentals.* Butterworht-Heinemann, 7th edition. 2013.
- [60] MUR, G. Edge Elements, Their Advantages and Their Disadvantages. *IEEE Transactions* on Magnetics, vol. 30, No. 5, September 1994.
- [61] INOUE, K., KOSHIBA, M. Three-Dimensional Finite-Element Method with Edge Element for Electromagnetic Waveguide Discontinuities. *IEEE Transaction on Microwave Theory and Techniques*. Vol. 39, no. 8. 1991.
- [62] WANG, H.Z. Spatial-Temporal Discrete Coordination of FEM and Direct Integral Method for Transient Dynamic Problems. Applied Mathematics and Mechanics. Vol. 15, no. 12, Dec 1994.
- [63] GAN, H., JIAO, D. An Unconditionally Stable Time-Domain Finite Element Method of Significantly Reduced Computational Complexity for Large-Scale Simulation of IC and Package Problems. IEEE 18th Conference on Electrical Performance on Electronic Packaging and Systems, 2009.
- [64] LI, X., JIN, J.M. An Unconditionally Stable Finite-Element Time-Domain Layered Domain-Decomposition Algorithm for Simulating 3D High-Speed Circuits. *IEEE 21st Conference on Electric Performance of Electronic Packaging and Systems*, pp. 159-162, 2012.
- [65] GEDNEY, S.D., NAVSARIWALA, U. An Unconditionally Stable Finite Element Time-Domain Solution of the Vector Wave Equation. *IEEE Microwave and Guided Wave Letters*, 1995.
- [66] TAFLOVE, A., HAGNESS, S.C. Computational Electrodynamics: the Finite-Difference Time-Domain Method, second edition, Artech House.

- [67] JIAO, D., JIN, J.M., MICHIELSSEN, E., RILEY, D.J. Time-Domain Finite-Element Simulation of Three-Dimensional Scattering and Radiation Problems Using Perfectly Matched Layers. *IEEE Transaction on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 51, no. 2, February 2003.
- [68] CIGÁNEK, J., RAIDA, Z. Temporal Discretization Schemes of Finite Element Methods: a Critical Comparison. In 2011 International Conference on Electromagnetics in Advanced Applications. Pp. 307-310. Torino, Italy: COPER, 2011.
- [69] DE HOOP, A.T., STUMPF, M., LAGER, I.E. Pulsed Electromagnetic Field Radiation from a Wide slot antenna with a dielectric layer. *Scientific report*. 2010.
- [70] LEE, J.F., SACKS, Z. Whitney elements time domain (WETD) methods. *IEEE Transactions on Magnetics*. IEEE Transaction on Magnetics, vol. 31, no. 3, 1995.
- [71] PIKE, R., SABATIER, P. Scattering and Inverse Scattering in Pure and Applied Science. Academic press. 2002
- [72] ARNOLD, D.N. 50 Years of Whitney Elements. School of Mathematics, University of Minnesota. *Colloquium 50 Years Numerische Mathematik*. 2009.
- [73] RUSSELL, D.A. *Waves in a Dispersive Medium*. [online]. 2004 2011 [cit. 2014-04-11]. Available at WWW: <http://www.acs.psu.edu/drussell/Demos/Dispersion/dispersion.html>.
- [74] HILLION, P. Electromagnetic Pulse Propagation in Dispersive Media. *Progress in Electromagnetic Research*, PIER 35, 299-314, 2002.
- [75] STRATTON, J.A. Electromagnetic Theory. McGRAW-HILL, New York, 1941.
- [76] KRISTENSSON, G. Direct and Inverse Scattering Problems in Dispersive Media-Green's Functions and Invariant Imbedding Techniques. *Technical Report* LUTEDX/(TEAT/7006)/1-13/(1990), pp. 277/294, 1994.
- [77] FELDMAN, Y., PUZENKO, A., RYABOV, Y. Dielectric Relaxation Phenomena in Complex Materials. John Wiley & Sons. 2006.
- [78] OSWALD, B., LEIDENBERGER, P. Finite element time domain (FETD) model with a dispersive Drude dielectric. 4th Workshop on numerical methods for optical nano structures, ETH Zurich, 7-8 July, 2008.
- [79] SCHNEIDER, J.B. Understanding the Finite-Difference Time-Domain Method, [Online] Cited 2014-04-02. Available at: http://www.eecs.wsu.edu/~schneidj/ufdtd.
- [80] INAN, U.S., MARSHALL, R.A. *Numerical Electromagnetics the FDTD Method.* 1st edition, Cambridge 2011.
- [81] WIKTOR, M., CIGÁNEK, J., RAIDA, Z. Digital Filter Based Analysis of Debye Dielectric Media in Time Domain. 22nd International Conference Radioelektronika, 2012.
- [82] RIKTE, S. One-Dimensional Pulse Propagation in Temporally Dispersive Media Exact Solution Versus Numerical Results. *Technical Report LUTEDX/(TEAT-7053)/1-35/(1997)*, 1997.
- [83] OPPENHEIM, A., SHAFFER, R. Digital Signal Processing. Prentice Hall, 1975.
- [84] CIGÁNEK, J., WIKTOR, M., RAIDA, Z. Finite Element Time Domain Digital Filter Based Analysis of Dispersive Models. *Radioengineering*, 2014, submitted.
CURRICULUM VITAE

| Name: | Jan Cigánek |
|-------------|---|
| Born: | April 16 th 1985 in Vyškov, Czech Republic |
| Contact: | ciganekjan@gmail.com |
| Education | |
| Euucation. | |
| 2010 - 2014 | Brno University of Technology /Department of Radio Electronics |
| | Doctoral's degree, Electronics and Communications |
| | Thesis: TIME DOMAIN FINITE ELEMENTS AND THEIR APPLICATIONS |
| 2008 - 2010 | Brno University of Technology / Department of Radio Electronics |
| | Master's degree, Electronics and Communications |
| | Thesis: TIME DOMAIN EDGE FINITE ELEMENTS |
| 2005 - 2008 | Brno University of Technology /Department of Radio Electronics |
| | Bachelor's degree, Electronics and Communications |
| | Thesis: COMMUNICATION OF A MEASURING DEVICE WITH A COMPUTER – LABORATORY EXPERIMENTS |

Experience:

2010-2012 HIRF-SE developer of a finite-element time-domain solver

Courses:

2011 International Travelling Summer School on Microwaves and Lightwaves Darmstadt, Germany

Languages:

Czech, English, German

Selected Publications:

CIGÁNEK, J., WIKTOR, M., RAIDA, Z. Finite Element Time Domain Digital Filter Based Analysis of Dispersive Models. *Radioengineering*. 2014. Submited

CIGÁNEK, J., WIKTOR, M., RAIDA, Z. Comparison of Various Approaches for Modelling Interaction of Dispersive Media and Electromagnetic Waves. 11th. World Congres on Computational Mechanics (WCCM XI), 2014, Barcelona. Accepted.

CIGÁNEK, J.; KADLEC, P.; RAIDA, Z.; WIKTOR, M. Microwave Imaging: Comparison of Direct Scattering Problem Solvers. In *13th Conference on Microwave Techniques COMITE 2013*. Studentska 95, 532 10 Pardubice, Czech Republic: University of Pardubice, 2013. s. 134-139. ISBN: 978-1-4673-5513- 1.

ŠEDĚNKA, V., CIGÁNEK, J., KADLEC, P., RAIDA, Z., WIKTOR, M., SARTO, M.S., GRECO, S. Time-Domain Finite Elements for Virtual Testing of Electromagnetic Compatibility. *Radioengineering*. 2013, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 309-317.

WIKTOR, M., CIGÁNEK, J., RAIDA, Z. Digital Filter Based Analysis of Debye Dielectric Media in Time Domain. 22nd International Conference Radioelektronika, 2012.

RAIDA, Z.; CIGÁNEK, J.; KADLEC, P.; KOUDELKA, V.; ŠEDĚNKA, V.; SVOBODOVÁ, J.; KOVÁCS, P.; LÁČÍK, J.; PÍTRA, K.; POKORNÝ, M.; PUSKELY, J.; VŠETULA, P.; WOLANSKÝ, D. *Mikrovlnné struktury z netradičních materiálů*. Odborná monografie. Brno: MJ Servis, 2011. 410 s. ISBN: 978-80-214-4419- 5.

CIGÁNEK, J., RAIDA, Z. Temporal Discretization Schemes of Finite Element Methods: a Critical Comparison. In 2011 International Conference on Electromagnetics in Advanced Applications. Pp. 307-310. Torino, Italy: COPER, 2011.

KADLEC, P.; RAIDA, Z.; ŠEDĚNKA, V.; CIGÁNEK, J. *Time domain finite element analysis of electrically large composite objects.* 8th Management Comitee business meeting and Working Groups Worshop. 2010. s. 1-13.

CIGÁNEK, J.; KADLEC, P.; RAIDA, Z.; ŠEDĚNKA, V. Finite Element Analysis of Composite Objects: Time Domain versus Frequency Domain. In 2010 International Conference on Electromagnetics in Advanced Applications. Sydney, Australia: IEEE, 2010. pp. 164-167. ISBN: 978-1-4244-7367-0.